

Meeting of the Parliament

Tuesday 11 September 2018





Tuesday 11 September 2018

CONTENTS

	Col.
TIME FOR REFLECTION	
TOPICAL QUESTION TIME	
North West Community Campus (Dumfries)	
Livestock (Exports)	7
EUROPEAN UNION EXIT PREPARATIONS	13
Statement—[Michael Russell].	
The Cabinet Secretary for Government Business and Constitutional Relations (Michael Russell)	
SOCIAL ENTERPRISE WORLD FORUM 2018	26
Motion moved—[Aileen Campbell].	
Amendment moved—[Dean Lockhart].	
Amendment moved—[Monica Lennon].	
The Cabinet Secretary for Communities and Local Government (Aileen Campbell)	
Dean Lockhart (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)	
Monica Lennon (Central Scotland) (Lab)	
Patrick Harvie (Glasgow) (Green)	
Willie Rennie (North East Fife) (LD)	37
Bruce Crawford (Stirling) (SNP)	
Gordon Lindhurst (Lothian) (Con)	41
James Kelly (Glasgow) (Lab)	
John Mason (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP)	
Jamie Halcro Johnston (Highlands and Islands) (Con)	
Tom Arthur (Renfrewshire South) (SNP)	
Daniel Johnson (Edinburgh Southern) (Lab)	
George Adam (Paisley) (SNP)	
Jeremy Balfour (Lothian) (Con)	57
Alex Rowley (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab)	59
Michelle Ballantyne (South Scotland) (Con)	61
Aileen Campbell	64
Business Motion	67
Motion moved—[Graeme Dey]—and agreed to.	
DECISION TIME	68
THE ECOLOGY CENTRE (KINGHORN)	73
Motion debated—[Claire Baker].	
Claire Baker (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab)	73
David Torrance (Kirkcaldy) (SNP)	
Alexander Stewart (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)	78
Alex Rowley (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab)	
Finlay Carson (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con)	
The Minister for Rural Affairs and the Natural Environment (Mairi Gougeon)	82

Scottish Parliament

Tuesday 11 September 2018

[The Presiding Officer opened the meeting at 14:00]

Time for Reflection

The Presiding Officer (Ken Macintosh): The first item of business is time for reflection. Our time for reflection leader is Mr Fareed Ahmad, national secretary for external affairs in the national executive of the Ahmadiyya Muslim Community LIK

Mr Fareed Ahmad (National Executive of the Ahmadiyya Muslim Community UK): Thank you for the opportunity to speak today.

In the name of Allah the gracious and merciful, my contribution stems from the words and guidance of His Holiness Hazrat Mirza Masroor Ahmad, the caliph and worldwide head of the Ahmadiyya Muslim community.

The world is passing through precarious times. There is a rise in division, hate and injustice. Society has become polarised, nations have threatened one another, conflicts have become widespread and inequality has increased. The plight of people in the world's poorest nations is truly desperate and their poverty is heartbreaking. They wake up each day wondering whether it will be their last. Hundreds of millions of people do not have access to clean drinking water; they make do, struggle and survive by using dirty pond water. The struggle for survival means that nearly a quarter of a billion children are deprived of education.

Today, their hardship is compounded by modern technology, through which they see the great disparity between them and the people who live in comfort in developed countries. That feeds resentment that is preyed upon by extremists, who entice them with money and the promise of a better life. Similarly, targeting illiterate youth gives extremists free rein to radicalise and brainwash, taking advantage of the fact that the rulers of those countries have more often than not failed their people.

Dear friends, those are not other people's problems, as they directly affect global peace and security. Every effort must be made to raise the standards of the developing world. Poor nations must not be looked down on; rather, we should consider them as part of our family—as our brothers and sisters. By helping developing nations to stand on their own feet and giving their

people opportunities and hope, we will help ourselves and safeguard the future of the world.

Perhaps that task falls more to people such as you who have the luxury of freedom and opportunity. In chapter 94 of the holy Qur'an, it says:

"So when thou art free strive hard".

It guides mankind to achieve peace by the "freeing of a slave" and

"feeding in the day of hunger an orphan near of kin or a poor man lying in the dust".

Those in power such as you are uniquely positioned to help create a better world. The question is, will you?

The founder of the Ahmadiyya Muslim community Hazrat Mirza Ghulam Ahmad—peace be upon him—whom we accept as the promised Messiah, guided us and said:

"The principle to which we adhere is that we have kindness at heart for the whole of mankind."

I put it to you that that, in truth, is a principle for us all.

Let us begin each day with such compassion in our hearts to help those in need, and let us end each day knowing that we have made a difference to end suffering, injustice and inequality, so that we bequeath to our future generations, wherever they may be, a world of peace rather than a world at war.

Topical Question Time

14:05

North West Community Campus (Dumfries)

1. Finlay Carson (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con): To ask the Scottish Government what discussions it has had with Dumfries and Galloway Council regarding the closure of the new North West community campus in Dumfries. (S5T-01213)

The Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Education and Skills (John Swinney): The safety of students and staff is our primary concern. Although this is a matter for Dumfries and Galloway Council, we have been in close contact with the council and we stand ready to provide whatever assistance may be required. Scottish Government officials have undertaken regular discussions with the council and I have spoken to its chief executive to discuss the ongoing situation at the campus. We have encouraged the council to ensure that a comprehensive inspection of the condition of the campus is undertaken and that any remedial action is undertaken as a matter of urgency to minimise any impact on children and young people's education.

Finlay Carson: Almost exactly two years ago to the day, at the sod cutting, the cabinet secretary said that it marked an exciting milestone for Dumfries. Today, we mark another chapter in the woeful reputation of Dumfries and Galloway Council. Once again it seems that defeat has been snatched from the jaws of victory.

Parents and staff are hugely concerned that the North West community campus is unsafe. We have seen ceilings collapse and a door injure a child after coming off its rails, and the latest incident saw a child being hit by a falling electronic whiteboard. That was after a council officer gave assurances that

"we've probably done far greater levels of checks now than you might normally have done."

Local people and parents are demanding answers. Will the cabinet secretary back my calls for a full public inquiry into what has gone wrong at the site and commit to investigate any issues that have arisen at any other Government-funded schools for the future campuses?

John Swinney: There were a number of elements in Mr Carson's question, and I will work my way through them.

First, as I said in my original answer, the safety of students and staff is the absolute concern, so the local authority must satisfy itself that all

scrutiny has been undertaken to ensure that the quality of the building is as it should be. Having discussed the matter with Dumfries and Galloway Council, I can say that I have seen extensive work that is being undertaken to secure the necessary confirmation that the standards of the building are as they should be. Quite clearly, that has not been satisfactory.

The council must—I know that it is intent on doing this—hold the contractors to account, because these are contractual issues. None of these things should be anticipated or expected in the delivery of a school building, so the contractor must be held to account on all of them, and the local authority will be meeting the contractor at a very senior level tomorrow to discuss these questions.

In relation to the latter part of Mr Carson's question, obviously, there will have to be investigations into what has gone wrong and there will have to be transparency around the issues. From the Government's perspective, I would certainly expect that to be the case in order to ensure that we have full information on the issues that have gone wrong—at, it appears, a very late stage in the contract—and to provide the reassurance that parents, staff, pupils and the local authority have the right to expect.

Finlay Carson: With regard to safety checks, Dumfries and Galloway Council's website shows that a building completion certificate for the project was granted on 20 July. Five days later, a ceiling collapsed at the building after an issue with the sprinkler system. I am not a builder, but I would imagine that, if the school had been filled with pupils and staff at the time, it would have been disastrous.

The council's website states:

"Building regulations are in place to make sure that buildings are safe."

It strikes me that the process of the council awarding completion certificates to projects that it has a vested interest in—particularly if, as in this case, they are behind schedule—could be open to suggestions of potential conflicts of interest. Will the Deputy First Minister give an assurance that that will be reviewed when we look at the process for deeming whether buildings are safe for use?

John Swinney: It is really important that we remember that the purpose of the certificates that are issued by local authorities is to provide confirmation that buildings have been built to the necessary standards and to provide clarity and reassurance on that to members of the public. A local authority has a statutory duty to undertake that task and, independent of whether it has an interest in the building, it must provide that assurance.

Mr Carson has raised legitimate points in our discussion about the safety and security of buildings. However, fundamentally, we rely on contractors doing the job that they are contracted to undertake. That is the fundamental issue, and of course there have to be checks to ensure that that has been done. At this stage, it seems pretty clear to me that the contractors have let the local authority down, and the contractors must be held to account for what has happened in this case.

The Presiding Officer (Ken Macintosh): Four other members wish to ask a question. If we are to have a chance of getting to each of them, all members should keep their questions short, and ministerial responses should also be short.

Emma Harper (South Scotland) (SNP): It is extremely concerning that there has been a second incident in a three-week period, which has resulted in the safety of children and, indeed, all building users being compromised. What action can the Scotlish Government take to ensure that all future public building works in the south-west of Scotland and, indeed, across Scotland are inspected and thoroughly checked to confirm that they are of the optimal health and safety standard before they are signed off and the buildings are open to children, teachers and the wider public?

John Swinney: The Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 places a duty on all owners of buildings to ensure that their premises are safe and without risks to the health of anyone involved. In addition to that requirement, which applies across all bodies and should apply across the south of Scotland, public sector bodies that procure construction works must have regard to Scottish Government construction policy note 01/2017, which provides guidance for contracting authorities on making appropriate arrangements for the independent inspection of construction activities. That guidance was prepared and the notice was produced following the publication of the "Report of the Independent Inquiry into the Construction of Edinburgh Schools"-or the Cole report.

Colin Smyth (South Scotland) (Lab): There have now been three incidents at the new campus despite assurances having been given to the council on a number of occasions by the private contractor, Graham, and the developer, Hub South West Scotland, that the building was safe. The council has had to bring in an independent third party to check the school, which may result in the discovery of further problems. It has issued the extraordinary statement that it has lost complete confidence in both the contractor and the developer. Does the Deputy First Minister have confidence in Graham and Hub South West Scotland? Does he share my concern that there appears to be Government-developed а

procurement process for new schools that does not properly hold private contractors to account for serious breaches of safety?

John Swinney: I expect private contractors to be held to account for contractual failures: that was at the heart of my answers to Mr Carson's questions. I made it clear to the chief executive of the local authority when I spoke to him that I expected the private contractor to be held to account, because we are talking about very basic and elementary stuff that no contractor should fail on in the provision of public sector buildings.

There are contractual arrangements. I have seen documentary evidence that the local authority has been assured by the private contractor. The letter says:

"Graham gives you"-

that is, the local authority—

"an unequivocal commitment to provide the Council with the facility it expected to have when we entered into contract."

That is an unequivocal commitment, to which I would expect Graham to be held.

There is a pretty simple answer in all these matters. When people are contracted to build buildings to a certain standard, they should do that. That would have saved the pupils and staff of the North West community campus the great deal of uncertainty and inconvenience that they face as a consequence of those issues.

Joan McAlpine (South Scotland) (SNP): Professor Cole also produced a report that exposed the failings in the way in which Dumfries and Galloway Council officers monitored the contractors at the DG One leisure complex, which was closed for safety reasons. Does the cabinet secretary share my concerns that lessons have not been learned from that report?

John Swinney: It is important that, when material such as the Cole report is produced, we follow and observe the issues that are raised and the recommendations made.

What strikes me about the information that I have seen on Dumfries and Galloway Council's handling of the matter is that it sought to verify the different assurances given to it by the contractor, but the fact that we are where we are today demonstrates that that process has not been as effective as it should be. I expect Dumfries and Galloway Council to look carefully at the Cole report and, particularly in relation to this process, ensure that effective scrutiny is put in place to protect the public interest and the safety of staff members and pupils at the North West community campus.

Graham Simpson (Central Scotland) (Con): Last week, Professor Cole told the Local Government and Communities Committee that it is possible for anyone, including Mr Swinney or me, to sign off a completion certificate. Anyone can do that because no level of expertise is needed. That is wrong, is it not?

John Swinney: I certainly would not sign off a completion certificate on a building. It is important that any public authority that has a responsibility for the construction of a building has appropriate expertise within the organisation to ensure that that process is undertaken satisfactorily and in accordance with the requirements of statute. Local authorities and other public bodies must ensure that they have taken account of their statutory responsibilities when they are signing off particular commitments or agreements.

Livestock (Exports)

2. Christine Grahame (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP): I declare an interest as convener of the cross-party group on animal welfare.

To ask the Scottish Government whether it will ban the export of livestock for fattening for slaughter. (S5T-01204)

The Minister for Rural Affairs and the Natural Environment (Mairi Gougeon): I am aware of Christine Grahame's long-standing interest in and commitment to animal welfare, and know that she has raised this issue in a chamber on a number of occasions. I want her to know that I share her passion for the welfare of animals and that, in the care of livestock, we adhere in all circumstances to the highest standards and regulations issued by the European Union.

This Government recognises, as does the dairy sector and NFU Scotland, that the issue of male dairy calves is very complex. The situation is not black and white. Such calves are of no real productive value in this country, so they end up either being slaughtered at birth or exported to other countries, including those in continental Europe. No one is very comfortable with that situation, so we will work with the sector to look at other options. I am pleased that this Government is supporting the ethical dairy, which is taking a different approach to dairy cows and their calves.

I want to make Parliament aware that P&O Ferries has confirmed that it will no longer be transporting live calves from Scotland that are destined for continental Europe. The company has said that it was shocked by the scenes in last night's BBC documentary, which influenced its decision. I, too, was shocked by the scenes in the documentary, but I emphasise that there was nothing in it that suggested any harm or breach of

any welfare standards by anyone transporting calves from Scotland to Northern Ireland, Ireland or continental Europe. Therefore, I am concerned at the decision that P&O Ferries has reached.

I will urgently seek to find out more information. We need to determine that there are no other impacts on live transport of animals to Northern Ireland or Ireland or, indeed, on the operation at Cairnryan more widely.

I reassure everyone in the chamber and elsewhere that the Government remains committed to ensuring that livestock in Scotland are reared, transported and treated throughout their lives humanely, with respect and to the highest possible welfare standards. Just as I made clear in my interview with BBC Scotland for last night's documentary, if anyone has any evidence that that is not happening, I hope that they would come to me with that information.

Christine Grahame: I welcome the minister to her portfolio, and I thank her for a very thoughtful and extensive reply. I make it plain that I do not blame the farming community or, indeed, P&O Ferries for shipping such livestock to Northern Ireland. I also understand the EU restrictions.

I was pleased to hear the minister reflect on ethical farming, such as that which is practised by David and Wilma Finlay at their farm in Gatehouse of Fleet.

The concept of animals as sentient beings has changed our whole concept of animal welfare. There remains widespread concern about removal of weeks-old bull calves from their mothers, which is distressing for mother and calf, and the transportation of those calves from Scotland—not England—over, in some cases, six days, to be fattened and slaughtered, whether or not we agree with the conditions in which they are transported.

Notwithstanding the minister's words—they are welcome and I hope that we make progress—can her Government guarantee the welfare of those calves, from removal from their mothers to export, through fattening to dispatch, in whichever country that takes place? This is about guaranteeing calves' welfare throughout.

Mairi Gougeon: That is exactly what we are trying to do. The subject is something about which I am passionate and care very much. The welfare of the animals is of paramount importance, which is why the Scottish Government has undertaken a project—it started in January this year and is due to run until January next year—in which we are monitoring every single stage of the process, to ensure that we are adhering to the highest possible welfare standards and do not end up in a situation in which animals are being mistreated. I must emphasise that, as far as I am aware, there have been no instances of mistreatment found so

far in the project. However, we are undertaking the work to ensure that it does not happen.

I completely understand how emotive the issue is and that there are a lot of strong feelings around it, especially when we consider the number of hours for which animals have to be transported. I emphasise that half the time is taken up resting the animals; the issue is not as straightforward as it is sometimes made out to be.

We are committed to upholding the highest animal welfare standards, which is why we have undertaken a project to ensure that that is happening.

Christine Grahame: I did not hear a response to my point about the ethical farming on the Finlays' farm at Gatehouse of Fleet. It seems to me that if such ethical practice were to be replicated throughout Scotland, the question of a ban on the practice that I have been talking about would be irrelevant, because we would not be using that practice. In ethical farming, farmers get a proper price for their milk produce, and bull calves are reared on the farm until they are six months old and are then slaughtered in Scotland, which removes the necessity of worrying about transport and what happens to animals once they leave our shores.

Mairi Gougeon: I refer to my first response to the member. No one is happy with the current situation. Ideally, animals would be reared and slaughtered as close as possible to where they are produced. We are not currently in that situation. That is why I and the Scottish Government support ethical dairy, and it is why I am keen to engage with the dairy industry and dairy farmers to see whether there is something that we can do about the situation. I would be happy to meet members and will look to engage actively with the dairy sector, to investigate.

Other members have probably received the briefing from the NFUS today, which says that the Scottish dairy industry is actively working to reduce the number of animals that are transported, and to find alternative home markets. I endorse and support that work. That is what we are keen to do.

The Presiding Officer: We have had very full questions and we have had very full and detailed answers, which all members will have welcomed. However, there is a huge amount of interest in the subject and five more members want to ask questions. I do not think that there is a chance of our getting through all five questions, but if we have succinct questions and answers we will get through a few.

Mark Ruskell (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Green): The minister has just repeated the assertion that she made on the BBC last night,

which is that she has no knowledge that animals were being transported to north Africa. I find that difficult to believe, given that a letter was sent to the First Minister back in the spring detailing those transports.

Does the minister acknowledge that there is a huge difference between a ferry trip for sheep in the Shetland Isles and the 135-hour journey that sheep and dairy calves are making to Spain and on to Africa? Does she accept that a ban on live exports will not lead to a ban on exports of cattle and sheep within the UK?

Mairi Gougeon: When I undertook to do the interview, I asked the BBC, if it had evidence of our cattle being transported to and ending up in countries outside the European Union, to hand that evidence to us. As yet, I have not received any such evidence.

As I have said, we are undertaking a project that is running for a year to monitor the situation and to see exactly what is happening. I have not seen any resulting evidence that mistreatment is actually taking place, as Mark Ruskell suggests. Again, if there is evidence to the contrary, I will be happy to receive it.

Edward Mountain (Highlands and Islands) (Con): Parliament requires me to declare my interests, and I wish to do so. Considering the emotiveness of the subject, it is a slightly longer declaration than I would normally make. I am part of a family partnership that produces beef cattle. We sell breeding cattle, mainly in the UK and in Ireland.

The "Disclosure" programme that was aired last night does not accurately reflect the high standards of welfare in the industry that I have known and worked in for the 39 years of my working life. I ask the minister whether she will work with the UK Government to ensure that the high standards that are practised in the UK farming industry are replicated across the world.

Mairi Gougeon: I hark back to the project that we are currently undertaking, because that is exactly what we want to do. We have a proud record on animal welfare standards in Scotland. I believe that the study is the first of its kind anywhere in the world. We could learn lessons from it and therefore improve the legislation and regulations that we have at the moment. It is of paramount importance to me that we maintain high standards in Scotland, so regardless of what happens with Brexit, we will do everything that we can to ensure that we maintain such standards.

Mike Rumbles (North East Scotland) (LD): On 6 June, I said to Fergus Ewing that

"the concern is not so much about direct exports from Scotland but about Scotlish animals ending up in Spain and

north Africa for slaughter."—[Official Report, Rural Economy and Connectivity Committee, 6 June 2018; c 48.]

He avoided answering my question: members can check the *Official Report*.

There is an alternative to slaughtering calves at a few weeks old, which is to rear them here for veal production and to promote that product for the UK consumer. The minister has just said that she will do everything she can to maintain high standards. Will she take positive action to promote consumption of Scottish veal by UK consumers, so that we can make it productive for farmers.

Mairi Gougeon: As I said in an earlier answer, I am absolutely open to looking at all alternatives and to engaging with the industry to see what we can do. Not everyone is happy with the situation. I am absolutely committed to engaging with the industry to see how we can move forward positively.

Claudia Beamish (South Scotland) (Lab): I will build on previous questions. As we have heard, last night's BBC "Disclosure" programme highlighted the Galloway farm of Wilma and David Finlay, which I have visited. They have an ethical system in which losses from lower milk yield are dealt with through selling the male cows at 18 months instead of their either being shot at birth or transported at up to four weeks, which could make up the difference.

In the interim, will the Scottish Government consider the possibility of supporting the development of such herds through transition subsidies? Also, will the minister agree with me that surely the only way to stop mistreatment is to ban live exports, as Scottish Labour and other Opposition parties including the Greens think we should?

Mairi Gougeon: Again, I say that the issue is not as black and white as that. We export animals for a variety of reasons. As far as I am aware from what some organisations have told me, we transport animals not only for further production but for breeding, with which, I believe, not all organisations have an issue.

The ethical dairy project is a business whose operators I have yet to meet, but I am very keen to do so as soon as possible. As I have said in my previous responses, I am happy to investigate alternatives and to look at other solutions so that we can find a positive way forward.

Emma Harper (South Scotland) (SNP): I have listened carefully to Christine Grahame's questions as well as to the minister's responses. I would be happy to introduce the minister to David and Wilma Finlay on a visit to the south-west.

I am interested to know whether the minister supports NFU Scotland's call for sound science and existing standards to be the basis of discussions prior to any changes to live export regulation.

Mairi Gougeon: I have spoken about the Scottish Government project that is currently under way: I reference it again. Being able to get the scientific evidence and the data is exactly why we are undertaking that work, to see what improvements we need to make, if any.

I also gratefully accept Emma Harper's invitation to visit the ethical dairy project, which I am keen to do, as I am keen to look at alternative solutions.

The Presiding Officer: That concludes topical question time. I thank all the members who spoke, and the ministers, for extending what was clearly a lot of political interest in both subjects.

European Union Exit Preparations

The Presiding Officer (Ken Macintosh): The next item of business is a statement by Michael Russell on preparations for European Union exit. The cabinet secretary will take questions at the end of his statement, so I encourage any members who wish to ask a question to press their request-to-speak buttons as soon as possible.

14:30

The Cabinet Secretary for Government Business and Constitutional Relations (Michael Russell): On 11 September 1997, 21 years ago to the very day, the people of Scotland voted in a referendum to re-establish the Scottish Parliament. That referendum was a recognition of

"the sovereign right of the Scottish people to determine the form of Government best suited to their needs",

to quote the claim of right, but instead of celebrating on the 21st birthday of devolution, we are witnessing that "sovereign right" being treated with contempt, as we face the most crucial and damaging change to our lives and prospects that any of us here will have known.

Despite the overwhelming vote in Scotland to remain in the European Union, in less than seven months' time the United Kingdom Government intends to take Scotland and the rest of the UK out of the EU. It intends to do so despite the vote of the people of Scotland against that step, despite the views of this Parliament and despite the fact that it lacks any workable plan and does not know what the consequences will be thereafter.

There is a vanishingly short window—a window of some 198 days—for agreement to be reached on the terms of withdrawal. In addition, discussions on the shape of a political declaration about a framework for future relationships are deadlocked by a UK Government that is unable to move for fear of destabilising the Conservative Party.

Of course, Brexit is, in reality, only the latest round in a 40-year-long civil war within the Conservative Party about Europe. The latest battlefield in that war is the so-called Chequers agreement. The EU has made it clear that the proposals on customs and trade in goods are not acceptable. If the Prime Minister cannot soften her proposals—at least 80 of her own MPs are prepared to die in the political ditch because, as far as they are concerned, the Chequers plan is too soft—the risk of exiting in March with no agreement on the terms of exit and no more than a commitment to further negotiations is very real.

There are some in this chamber who are trying to tell us that we have to choose between those warring factions, but that is a false choice. I want to make it absolutely clear at the outset that a nodeal Brexit is impossible and unthinkable, but the Chequers deal is impractical and unworkable, and a Brexit with next to no detail about the future relationship—a so-called "blind Brexit"—would be completely unacceptable, so we must find something better. What a mess the Tories have made of it. Tory members should be hanging their heads in silent shame in the chamber this afternoon.

The Scottish Government has always made a distinction between the politics of Brexit and the absolute necessity of doing everything that we can to ensure that there is no legislative cliff edge. We are committed, solidly and completely, to taking every action to ensure that there is as little damage to Scotland as possible.

The publication in August of the first batch of nodeal technical notices laid bare not just the appalling irresponsibility of all those involved, but the stark reality of what a no deal would mean for Scottish businesses and citizens. Reading those notices, I was struck again and again that there is a simple solution that would avoid all that damage—staying in the European Union. That should still be our aim, but we should also be prepared to compromise if others will compromise.

Accordingly, we will continue to make the case vigorously for membership of the European single market and the customs union, and to set out the implications of other options and the impact that they would have on Scotland's future. In addition, regrettably, we will have to work as hard as we can to prepare for a no deal, should one occur.

In June, I made a statement in which I advised that the Scottish Government was intensifying its preparations for all exit possibilities in order to support the Scottish economy and our businesses, people and public services in what are and will continue to be very uncertain times. In contrast, as in the conduct of its negotiations, the UK Government's readiness preparations have been haphazard and contradictory, and have massively increased the uncertainty.

I confirm that, nonetheless, the Scottish Government intends to take a coherent, consistent and collaborative approach to making preparations for EU exit. We will be straight with people, and I intend to communicate what the Scottish Government is doing to help Scotland.

Let me start with the details of our preparations in parallel with the UK Government's arrangements. In June, I said that I would return to Parliament with more details on how we will legislate to deliver a functioning statute book. That

is an unwelcome responsibility, but it is one that we will face up to. We must act just in case we find ourselves in the worst of circumstances. The chamber will understand that that task is a significant undertaking. The deficiencies in our statute book that have already been identified—the areas in which change must be made—are many and varied. We need to correct hundreds of pieces of legislation, not a mere handful. However, we have no choice, so as parliamentarians we will have a great deal of heavy legislative lifting to do over the next few months.

We have always said that the best way to go about that task is by co-operation and coordination between the Governments of these islands, as long as that co-operation can take place in a way that respects the principles of devolution and gives this Parliament its proper role in the process. Accordingly, where the policy outcome being sought is consistent across Governments, we will seek to agree approaches to the fixing regulations that are required. Of course, where the policy outcome is not consistent, we will pursue our own policies, which will require us to introduce our own secondary legislation. Even with that co-operation, the number of individual items for this Parliament to consider might be between 100 and 200 additional instruments. That is a heavy burden, but it could be heavier still if Westminster is not willing to co-operate sensibly.

I am writing today to the conveners of the Finance and Constitution and Delegated Powers and Law Reform Committees, in order to set out the Government's approach and to agree a protocol between Government and Parliament to ensure that Parliament will be able to scrutinise effectively the items in question and the whole process.

This is not about where devolved competences will fall after EU exit. This is not about section 12 of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018, which this Parliament has overwhelmingly rejected and which this Government will have nothing to do with. This is not even about legislative consent motions. This is about responsibly discharging, as best we can, our duty to ensure a functioning devolved statute book.

Let me turn to some other associated issues. In writing to UK suppliers of more than 8,000 medicines and asking them to stockpile up to six weeks of supplies, the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care exposed the scale and complexity of the problems that would be created by a no-deal Brexit. Nonetheless, the Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport and the chief medical officer are engaged in those discussions and will ensure the full involvement of Scotland in that system.

We are also constantly reviewing our planning for Brexit more generally, and after the next two tranches of technical notices are issued by the UK Government, we will consider publishing our own supplementary guidance if we feel that it would be useful and that it will not add to the momentum around no deal, which could be an unforeseen outcome. We are, of course, engaged in civil contingencies planning around any impacts that might have an immediate and direct effect on citizens.

However, in the event of a hard Brexit or no deal, it is important to realise that there might be some risks that will simply not be in the hands of the Scottish Government to mitigate. If there are customs delays at the border between the UK and the EU, food imports and exports could be delayed and disrupted. Exporters of perishable foods from Scotland, for example, could find that their products take longer to get to market, or are unable to get there at all, and cost more.

In the fight against crime, we stand to lose access to the expertise that has been built up in Europol, which is used to identify, track and disrupt some of the most dangerous cross-border criminal activity. The ability of Police Scotland to work with law enforcement colleagues from across the EU to tackle such activity can be vital.

If the free movement of EU nationals and the mutual recognition of professional qualifications were curtailed, that would have serious consequences for the recruitment and retention of public sector workers across Scotland.

The Scottish Government is aligning existing financial and staff resources towards areas with specific EU exit-related demands, and it is ensuring that we have the right people in the right places to respond. We have created a new directorate for international trade and investment, and we have strengthened our presence in Brussels, London, Dublin, Berlin and Paris to ensure that Scotland's voice is heard in Europe. Every directorate of the Scottish Government is engaged in planning for EU exit.

The Scottish Government will receive £37.3 million of consequentials that will be allocated in 2018-19. The Cabinet Secretary for Finance, Economy and Fair Work has made initial allocations of funding, which to date total £26.6 million for resource and £0.5 million for capital, to support vital activities. We are prioritising areas that will be heavily impacted by Brexit, such as agriculture and the rural economy. We are also using those funds to ensure that we have the skilled staff in place to resource the delivery of a functioning devolved statute book.

It is unacceptable that Scotland's public finances should suffer detriment as a result of

Brexit, and we will continue to press the UK Government to ensure that the financial implications of EU exit and the need for appropriate future funding arrangements for Scotland are fully considered.

Preparing for an orderly Brexit has been, and will be, a major challenge in itself. That displacement of skills and resources will be mirrored across Scotland's businesses and public services. How much worse is it to be forced to also address the prospect of a no-deal Brexit that threatens disruption on an unprecedented scale in peacetime? However carefully we prepare for a no-deal scenario, it will still result in chaos. Even the UK Government's own no-deal plans will require a plethora of agreements with the EU in order to work effectively. In a situation where negotiations have broken down, we have to ask how plausible that is. I will keep Parliament updated on preparations and make a further statement in due course.

A no deal is not inevitable, but the Chequers agreement is not deliverable and a blind Brexit is not acceptable. Therefore, not leaving would be best, and the only acceptable alternative thereafter is continued membership of the single market and customs union, which is essential for our economy, our society and the people of Scotland. The Scottish Government will continue to make that case while fulfilling its duty of protecting Scotland as best it can from the threats of a Brexit—any Brexit—that we cannot completely ameliorate, that we do not want and that we did not vote for.

Adam Tomkins (Glasgow) (Con): I thank the minister for early sight of his statement.

"It is important that politicians of all parties put their shoulder to the wheel and secure something as close to the Chequers agreement as possible. If we step away from that, it will be detrimental to UK and Scotland."

Those are not my words; they are the words of NFU Scotland, just yesterday. NFU Scotland is right. Why does the minister not agree?

What we need from Scottish ministers is not more empty posturing on Brexit, which is all that we have been treated to by Mike Russell, but constructive engagement in the work of cooperating with the UK Government to secure the best possible Brexit deal for Scotland and all the UK. On one level, we have to feel sorry for Mike Russell. He is desperate to be the herald of doom, but he is today contradicted over and again by Michel Barnier, no less. The EU's chief negotiator said yesterday that it is perfectly possible to reach a deal on Brexit in the next six to eight weeks. That is good news, but the Scottish National Party does not want to hear it. Everything that it says about Brexit is negative. The only thing that

being stockpiled here is ministerial grievance and tired political cliché.

If the outlook is so gloomy, why does the Institute of Chartered Accountants report today that business confidence in the economy is so high? As NFU Scotland and countless others have rightly said, let us get behind Chequers and support the UK Government in its negotiations with the EU, drop the nationalist scaremongering, seize the opportunities for economic growth that Brexit presents and get on with the job of securing the best possible Brexit deal for Scotland.

Michael Russell: I echo the words of Brian Taylor who, on the radio this morning, commended the Tories for their brass neck—we have just heard more of that brass neck. In a party that is literally tearing itself apart over Brexit, all that Adam Tomkins can do is to try to create a smokescreen to avoid the chaos that lies ahead.

I will quote somebody who said in this Parliament on 28 June:

"To my mind, leave should mean that we retain full access to the EU's single market ... leaving the EU's political institutions does not mean that we have to leave the single market, for there are several countries, including Norway"

that have

"just such an arrangement."—[Official Report, 28 June 2016; c 26.]

That person was Adam Tomkins. [Interruption.] Indeed, let me quote somebody else, who said on 30 June:

"Retaining our place in the single market should be the overriding priority."—[Official Report, 30 June 2016; c 24.]

That was Ruth Davidson.

The reality is that the only acceptable alternative—and it is not as good—to staying in the EU is staying in the single market and the customs union. Unfortunately, that was what Adam Tomkins, Ruth Davidson and everybody else knew two years ago. The Tories' requirement to have slavish loyalty to their leader—apart from Boris, Rees-Mogg, Redwood and all the others, of course, for whom it depends who the leader is—is putting Adam Tomkins in a ludicrous position. [Interruption.] The more he shouts, the more ludicrous it becomes.

Neil Findlay (Lothian) (Lab): I thank the cabinet secretary for the not-so-early sight of his statement, but I will not dwell on that.

It is interesting that the cabinet secretary referred to the claim of right at the beginning of his statement, because it is a claim that his party failed to sign.

As Brexit day edges ever closer, businesses, the fishing industry, farmers, workers and our

citizens grow ever-more anxious. They see the UK Government in complete disarray with cabinet resignations, threats, counter-threats and a governing party seeing out the final months of a war over Europe that has lasted almost 50 years. We see the Prime Minister dangling by her fingertips as Davis, Rees-Mogg and the odious Johnson prise them from the cliff with a sledgehammer. The already sunk Chequers plan is all that she has to keep her afloat.

A no-deal Brexit would be a disaster for our people, our public services and our businesses, and we oppose the cobbled-together Chequers plan. However, today we are scrutinising the Scottish Government's preparations. We of course welcome emergency planning for the national health service and medicines, but we are seriously concerned about the lack of detail on other sectors. In today's statement, there are a lot of headings and plenty rhetoric, but there has been little in the way of practical detail on how the Scottish Government intends to give confidence to businesses, exporters, workers, farmers, the fishing industry, environmentalists and consumers. They need more than strong rhetoric and vague detail.

Will the cabinet secretary set out in detail in the Scottish Parliament information centre the exact progress that has been made in each sector so that we can properly scrutinise the Scottish Government's proposals?

The Presiding Officer: Before the cabinet secretary replies, I encourage all members when answering or asking questions to please use the full name of any parliamentarian or member of the public they refer to, and to refer to them correctly and politely. Do not disparage them.

Michael Russell: Mr Findlay has available to him all the detail in the UK documents as they have been published. We scarcely get much more detail than that, except the odd chance to fact check or legally check those documents. They are the core documents in this matter.

I have indicated to Mr Findlay that we will publish additional material as we think it necessary. I have also indicated to him that we will make it clear that our plans are available.

It is important that we do two things. The first is that we do not accept the inevitability of a no-deal scenario and so do not do anything to talk that up. The second is that we have to accept where responsibility for that lies, and always say that there is an alternative, because there is.

There is an alternative to no deal, to the Chequers agreement, which will not stick, or to a blind Brexit, which appears to be where we are going. The alternative is to stay in the EU, which is the best option and what Scotland voted for, or to

back the single market and the customs union. Indeed, if the Labour Party was to back that, we would make more progress with that campaign than we have already done.

Patrick Harvie (Glasgow) (Green): I also urge the Scottish Government to consider publishing more information, not just supplementary guidance if it feels that such guidance is necessary, but reassuring information so that members of the public will know that the potential chaos of a nodeal Brexit is being addressed and that detailed preparations are being made.

I would like to ask about the UK Withdrawal from the European Union (Legal Continuity) (Scotland) Bill. As the cabinet secretary knows, he has our support in defending that bill against the UK Government's attack in the courts. If he is unsuccessful and the UK Government attacks the legislation successfully, will he commit to ensuring that, if necessary, the stronger aspects of that legislation, which are better as a result of crossparty efforts to achieve social and environmental protections and stronger democratic scrutiny, will be reintroduced? Will he commit to ensuring that we will not lose out on that higher level of protection and democratic scrutiny if the UK Government has its way in court?

Michael Russell: I have two points to make in response to that. On reassurance, we will continue to do everything that we can to make sure that Scotland is protected. However, I have also made it clear that we cannot mitigate every outcome of a no-deal Brexit. There are two reasons for that. First, we do not know what every outcome will be and, secondly, no deal is, by definition, disastrous. We have made that clear. I would love to give more reassurance, but we have to be realistic, as I have indicated. There are things that cannot be mitigated and I have indicated what some of those are

On the continuity bill, I agree entirely with the member. The UK Government's attack on the bill was most unwelcome. However, that having been done, we have defended ourselves vigorously. Depending on the outcome, of course, we will consider how to bring to the Parliament the ways in which we can undertake the actions that we wish to undertake. I hope that the bill can move forward and get royal assent—that would be the right thing to happen and if it happens, we will move forward with it. If it does not happen, we will consider closely what we can do. I hope to involve the parties in Parliament that are not attacking the bill in that.

Willie Rennie (North East Fife) (LD): I thank the cabinet secretary for advance sight of the statement. I agree with him when he talks about the UK Government's false choice between the options that are being presented—the economic

damage and massive surrender of democracy of the Chequers plan or the massive economic and financial consequences of no deal.

For ages, the cabinet secretary has said that he is open to the British people having the final say on the Brexit deal. Now that there are fewer than 200 days left, has he made up his mind yet? Support is growing across the spectrum, including from the Trades Union Congress yesterday and from members on the Conservative and Labour benches, so will he get off the fence? Will he back the people's vote?

Michael Russell: I have made it clear from the beginning that I am not opposed to that and neither is the Scottish Government. However, we have posed some questions. If Mr Rennie is serious about engaging the Government on that issue, he needs to help us to answer those questions. I am open to him helping us to answer them. Perhaps he could get his friends in the movement for a people's vote to help to answer those questions too, as none of them was answered in any way by a demonstration outside this Parliament during August. It seemed to me that that demonstration ignored those questions.

Let me just make it clear what the core question is. The people of Scotland have already voted to remain in the EU. We voted decisively on 23 June 2016. What would happen if there was another vote and they made it clear that they wanted to remain and yet the people in the rest of the UK did not? That question requires to be answered. There can be answers to it—I am happy to sit down and get those answers—but ignoring that question and ignoring what the people of Scotland did on 23 June 2016 will not produce an answer. That is the question that Mr Rennie needs to answer.

If Mr Rennie wants to answer that question, I am delighted to speak to him about it—I make that offer now. However, we require that question to be on the table and answered, not hidden away and ignored.

The Presiding Officer: There are 10 more members who wish to ask questions. Again, I plead for brevity so that we can get through them all.

Joan McAlpine (South Scotland) (SNP): In a moment of candour recently, Liam Fox, the international trade secretary, told the website "The Truth Trade" that we must not succumb to "irrational positivity" about Brexit and that

"everything will not be wonderful just because we are leaving the European Union".

That point will not come as a surprise to the cabinet secretary or many other members of this Parliament, but does the cabinet secretary agree that that admission from a zealous Brexiteer

comes far too late in the day and that the best preparation and protection for us is for the UK to agree to keep us in the single market and the customs union?

Michael Russell: Absolutely. Brexit is not a reason to be cheerful—quite the opposite. The reality of the situation is that the campaign was fought on a false prospectus. We now know that it was also a campaign that appears to have had extreme irregularities in both its organisation and its financing. It is extraordinary to me that those people who opposed leaving, including Professor Tomkins, are now the most slavish supporters of it. That shows a distinct lack of political principle, just as Dr Fox has done.

Murdo Fraser (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con): When we come to a vote in the House of Commons and members of Parliament are given a choice between the Chequers deal or no deal, what side will the SNP MPs be on?

Michael Russell: Mr Fraser does not seem to be a very keen student of these matters, because it seems to many of us that that is not likely to be the outcome at all. What is much more likely to be the outcome is, for example, a choice between a blind Brexit—a very vague, high-level agreement—or no Brexit at all.

However, I made it clear in my statement, which Mr Fraser should have listened to, that the Chequers agreement option—which is no agreement, because it cannot be agreed in its present form and the Prime Minister cannot move from it for fear of Rees-Mogg et al—the no-deal Brexit option, which comes from the people who have no connection at all with reality, as far as I can see, and the blind-Brexit option are all unacceptable options.

There are two acceptable options, one of which—the best option—is not to leave and the second of which is to have as close an alignment as possible through the single market and the customs union. I will not be pushed to choose sides in the Tory civil war. I want the Tory civil war to stop, because at present we are all collateral damage.

Bruce Crawford (Stirling) (SNP): Across the country, day in and day out, people are becoming more deeply concerned and alarmed about whether there will be an appropriate Brexit deal. What confidence does the cabinet secretary have in the UK Government reaching a deal based on the Prime Minister's so-called Chequers plan? Does he agree that it is high time that the Tories halted their hugely damaging infighting and just for once put the interests of the country first?

Michael Russell: I am grateful to Mr Crawford for that question, because it is absolutely clear, and has been for some time, that the Chequers

plan as it is cannot produce a solution—it would have to be substantially changed to produce a solution. That is why officials describe the plan as evolving. However, the Prime Minister describes it as settled, because the more that she moves away inch by inch from the Chequers plan to anything that could get a deal, the more trouble she will have with the Conservative Party. I do not mean the Conservative Party in this chamber, which is utterly spineless; I mean the Conservative Party that hates that idea of change.

In those circumstances, we have a difficult problem to face. As I have said, the way to face that problem is to be absolutely clear that the false choice or dichotomy that is presented to us time and again by the Tories in trying to wriggle out of the problems that they have is not a choice at all. We should be clear about what is and is not acceptable. The EU does not find the Chequers plan acceptable, nobody would find a no-deal Brexit acceptable and a blind Brexit is a pig in a poke.

James Kelly (Glasgow) (Lab): In light of the numerous references in the statement to the threat to public services, what assessment has been done in relation to the 2019-20 budget of the impact of Brexit on the funding of public services?

Michael Russell: The member will find that when the Cabinet Secretary for Finance, Economy and Fair Work comes to present the budget, he will make it absolutely clear, as he should do, what the effect of Brexit has been. There are issues to do with consequentials. I am sure that Mr Kelly, as a member of the Finance and Constitution Committee, will have a chance to question that very closely at the time.

Annabelle Ewing (Cowdenbeath) (SNP): Given that the Scottish Government is now faced with the prospect of seeking to prepare for a nodeal Brexit because Conservative Party members have been too busy fighting among themselves, is it not the case that the UK Tory Government is guilty of a total dereliction of duty to the citizens of Scotland and the rest of the UK?

Michael Russell: Yes, that is absolutely true. One would have thought that members of the Scottish Conservative Party would recognise that and endeavour to do something about it by listening to Scotland but, instead, they are simply making the situation worse by their slavish adherence to the Chequers agreement and the Prime Minister, neither of which is going to last terribly long.

Maurice Golden (West Scotland) (Con): Given that the cabinet secretary is so concerned with constitutional uncertainty, will he agree to take indyref 2 off the table?

Michael Russell: Gosh! It is almost as if a machine is writing these questions, and what a machine it is. At some stage, the people of Scotland will have to make a choice between whatever Brexit is presented by the member's colleagues south of the border and a normal independent future. During the independence referendum in 2014, colleagues of Mr Golden as well as members on the Labour Party benches and the Liberal benches said that, if we were independent, we could not be in the EU. As exactly the opposite has happened, I commend to Mr Golden what I was talking about earlier: a period of silence.

Gillian Martin (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP): The cabinet secretary mentioned in his statement some of the sectors that we know will be extremely negatively impacted by the Tory-led hard Brexit, should it happen, but there is more bad news by the day—news that cannot be dismissed as scaremongering. This week, it comes from the oil and gas sector. What is the cabinet secretary's response to today's Oil & Gas UK report, which concludes that a hard Brexit

"could lead to platforms being shut down",

because of challenges in recruiting staff from the EU?

Michael Russell: One of the most astonishing aspects of this whole issue is the way in which, day after day, there is evidence, from those who know what they are talking about, about the damaging effects of Brexit, and yet it is completely ignored by the Tory party, the Prime Minister and the Conservatives in this chamber. I saw that report today, and it is quite clear that there is huge concern, particularly about the flow of labour, and that there is a need for labour. The response from the UK Government was to say that labour would still be available until the end of 2020. The reality of that is no comfort at all for an industry that does long-term planning. It is like last week's so-called concession on seasonal workers; the numbers were minuscule compared with what is required.

Earlier, someone talked about a dereliction of duty. I have to say that the dereliction of duty to key Scottish industries from the Tories over Brexit is absolutely mind boggling. It is also incredibly damaging.

Pauline McNeill (Glasgow) (Lab): I want to press the cabinet secretary for some detail on the directorate for international trade and investment that was mentioned in his statement. Will there be offices in London, Dublin, Berlin and Paris, when will they be established and what relationship will they have with the UK trade offices? I think that that is an important question.

Michael Russell: There are already offices in London, Dublin and Berlin, and Paris is just about

to open. I was in Paris two weeks ago, speaking at a large business conference, and I talked to the person who will be running that office. Those offices are in place. They work through Scottish Development International, usually, and through Scottish Enterprise, and there are close relationships between those bodies and the UK where appropriate. That has been the case, for example, with the office in Washington and the member of staff in Beijing, and those relationships have continued. However, the important thing is the focus on promoting Scotland and making Scotland's voice heard. That is taking place, those offices are crucial to it, and my experience of them has been very positive indeed. They are out there doing the things that need to be done. Very often, the UK Government is not doing the things that need to be done.

The Presiding Officer: I apologise to those members who did not get an opportunity to ask their questions. I allowed the topical questions to run on somewhat this afternoon.

The next item of business will be a debate on motion S5M-13813, in the name of Aileen Campbell, on the social enterprise world forum. I invite all members who wish to speak in the debate to press their request-to-speak buttons now. We will allow a few seconds for members and ministers to change seats.

Social Enterprise World Forum 2018

The Deputy Presiding Officer (Linda Fabiani): I call Aileen Campbell to speak to and move motion S5M-13813.

15:03

The Cabinet Secretary for Communities and Local Government (Aileen Campbell): This week, more than 1,400 people travelling from 47 countries will attend the 2018 social enterprise world forum here in Edinburgh. Delegates will have the opportunity to hear from pioneering social entrepreneurs, take part in debates and benefit from master classes.

Many will know that the forum, now celebrating its 10th anniversary, is a product of Scotland. In 2008, with the support of the Scottish Government and its enterprise agencies, Community Enterprise in Scotland—a social enterprise in Glasgow delivered the inaugural event in Edinburgh in 2008. For the subsequent 10 years, this Scottish export has toured the world, with cities competing for the opportunity to play host. In cities from Johannesburg to Hong Kong, more than 7,500 social entrepreneurs and supporters have attended to date, contributing knowledge and passion to this global movement, and since that first event back in 2008, Scotland has secured its reputation as a world-leading social enterprise

This time last year, my predecessor Angela Constance travelled to New Zealand to participate in the formal handover ceremony confirming Edinburgh as 2018 host. By doing so, she confirmed Scotland as the only country to host the world forum twice. I sincerely pay tribute to Angela Constance for her dedication to the sector.

We should be very proud that our country has taken such a lead and is viewed as leading the global social enterprise movement. Although this week's gathering is of countries that are separated by many miles, what unites them and each and every social enterprise is the determination to do good and put something back into communities and societies and the fact that they are motivated by a belief in the ability to transform positively.

The chance to celebrate the 10th anniversary of the social enterprise world forum provides us with an opportunity to reflect on the growth of social enterprise in Scotland over that decade. However, although we are contributing to the debate that recognises the forum's 10th anniversary, Scotland's association with socially responsible business is much older than that, going from New Lanark in the 19th century, in my constituency of

Clydesdale, to the co-operative and community business movements of the 1970s and right up to the present day. Over the past decade, the Scottish Government and all parties in this Parliament have continued to champion social enterprise, working with the sector to put in place comprehensive ecosystem of support. Incubators, accelerators, free business advice, 16 local social enterprise networks, leadership programmes and social investment are all on offer for aspiring social entrepreneurs, whether they are starting a cafe supporting refugees or a fitness gym providing mental health support.

The Scottish Government knows the power of using social enterprise as a tool to tackle inequality and promote inclusive economic growth. However, social enterprise does not only empower communities; it is also incredibly good for the economy. The sector contributes £2 million gross value added each year and employs around 80,000 people.

The inclusive economic growth that social enterprises demonstrate is why, in December 2016, we launched Scotland's first ever dedicated social enterprise strategy. Fully co-produced with the sector and set over 10 years, it sets out three strategic priorities: stimulating more social entrepreneurship, developing stronger organisations and realising market opportunities. Since the launch of the strategy in December 2016 and its accompanying action plan in April 2017, we have invested more than £7 million to realise those ambitions. That has included more than £2 million for the social entrepreneurs fund, which provides advice and seed capital to more than 160 start-ups; £660,000 for the Social Enterprise Academy to get social enterprise learning into every primary and secondary school in Scotland, reaching more than 300 schools to date; £2 million for free business support through Just Enterprise, with more than 1,800 social enterprise leaders benefiting; £270,000 for the community shares Scotland service, providing an innovative way for communities to raise the funding that they need and supporting projects such as Govanhill baths and the Rockfield centre; £200,000 for Big Issue Invest to deliver its "Power up Scotland" programme, providing corporate mentoring and investment to 13 social enterprises over the next two years; more than £100,000 for the Council of Ethnic Minority Voluntary Sector Organisations, which will support more social enterprises such as Radiant and Brighter, an employability social enterprise supporting migrant communities in Glasgow that I visited last month; and more than £400,000 for the partnership for procurement programme, which provides technical support to people who are interested in forming consortia to bid for large contracts.

The sector continues to grow. The Scottish Government is committed to conducting a census of social enterprise in Scotland every two years. In September last year, the results of the second census were announced. There are now more than 5,000 social enterprises in Scotland, which represents a growth of almost 10 per cent since 2015. Women lead 64 per cent of them, including Hey Girls, which was recently chosen to deliver the Scottish Government's initiative to provide free sanitary products to school pupils and students. Some 79 per cent sell directly to the public. Brewgooder is an example of one of those. It produces a social enterprise craft beer with profits going to tackle water poverty in Malawi. Rural Scotland now accounts for 37 per cent of Scotland's social enterprises, despite being home to only 18 per cent of the nation's population, with the highest densities of social enterprise being found in the Highlands and Islands. Further, 70 per cent of our social enterprises are led by, and accountable to, people in particular communities, such as the Mull and Iona Community Trust, which was set up by residents with a focus on sustainable development and which recently celebrated its 20th year.

The sector is growing its reach internationally, too. Some 7 per cent of our social enterprises trade internationally, such as the Social Enterprise Academy, which now operates in 12 countries.

Scotland has a great deal to celebrate, especially now that local authorities are developing their own strategic approaches. Only last night, Glasgow City Council launched its local social enterprise strategy, developed in partnership with Glasgow's social enterprise network.

With so much happening across Scotland, and given the vibrancy of the sector, it is vital that this story is properly captured, understood and shared for the benefit of all. That is why I am delighted to announce that the Scottish Government will provide £90,000 to the Yunus centre for social business and health at Glasgow Caledonian University—named in honour of Nobel peace prize laureate Muhammad Yunus—to help to establish Scotland's social enterprise collection. That work will build on existing materials held by the university in honour of John Pearce, an influential figure in Scotland's community enterprise movement.

Dean Lockhart (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con): I want to follow up on the point about the role of local authorities in promoting social enterprise. The Economy, Jobs and Fair Work Committee recently heard from key stakeholders that the Scotlish Government and local authorities could use procurement policy to award more public sector contracts to social enterprises in their

areas. Would you care to give us your views on that concern?

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I remind members always to speak through the chair. I know that I have a bugbear about that, but that is the way it is.

Aileen Campbell: I am well aware of the member's particular interest in social enterprise and I read with interest the committee's recommendations. If we can put more effort into ensuring that social enterprise can benefit from procurement, we must seek to do so. I will continue to engage with the member and the committee on that issue.

The funding to the Yunus centre will not only establish the world's first dedicated archive for social enterprise but generate new digital resources and a travelling exhibition to reach out across Scotland. It is imperative that more communities find out about, and are supported to use, social enterprise as a tool for transformational change. It is also important, given Scotland's historical association with socially responsible business, that we can tell that story and preserve it for the future. I look to ensure that we can seek out future opportunities as well.

This week's forum not only brings a huge opportunity for Scotland's social enterprises to raise their profile, but is a chance to access supply chains. I am delighted that at least 60 per cent of spend relating to the world forum will go to other social enterprise and third sector suppliers, from catering to translation. The organisers believe that it will be the highest ever spend on social enterprises at any major event in the world.

However, the spotlight on social enterprise will not end with the closing ceremony of the forum. In November, the winners of the social enterprise awards Scotland will be announced. This year, there are seven categories, including the coveted social enterprise of the year award, which was secured last year by the Grassmarket Community Project. Chris Martin, managing director of Callander youth hostel and winner of the social enterprise champion award in 2017, has continued to advocate on behalf of the sector. As a result of his efforts, I am delighted to confirm that, this evening, Callander will be announced as Scotland's first social enterprise town, as part of the social enterprise places programme delivered by Social Enterprise UK.

Scotland is viewed around the world as a leader in social enterprise. We have strong historical roots to build on, combined with a rich, varied and diverse social enterprise sector that is contributing significantly to the socioeconomic wellbeing of our country. Nevertheless, we know that there continue to be challenges and areas where we can continue to improve, which is why it is right that we continue to support the sector and make improvements through our 10-year strategic plan. Further, we must not be complacent and, if we want to continue to lead the world in how we nurture our social enterprises, we must be agile and open to new ideas and opportunities. That underlines Dean Lockhart's point.

I am delighted to have social enterprise in my new portfolio, because social enterprises capture the essence of all that is good in our country and our communities. Social enterprises believe in our communities, and they recognise their resilience and reflect their assets and strength. I sincerely look forward to engaging with members on that issue, through this debate and through the new cross-party group, which I think will have Tom Arthur MSP as its convener.

I move.

That the Parliament joins Scotland's social enterprise community to welcome the Social Enterprise World Forum 2018 taking place on 12 to 14 September 2018 at the Edinburgh International Conference Centre; congratulates the event's organiser, CEIS, and all those involved in planning, delivering and supporting this three-day event, which will attract more than 1,400 delegates from across the world; recognises that this successful international event has its roots in Scotland with the inaugural event taking place in Edinburgh in 2008 with support from the Scottish Government and its enterprise agencies; notes the excellent partnership working across the public and third sectors over the last 10 years, which has established Scotland's world-leading reputation for social enterprise; continues to support the ambitions of the Scottish Government and the social enterprise community as set out in Scotland's Social Enterprise Strategy 2016-26 and accompanying action plan, Building A Sustainable Social Enterprise Sector In Scotland 2017-20, and looks forward to 2019, when the Scottish Government will again work collaboratively with the sector to conduct the third national census of social enterprise in Scotland to ensure that it continues to understand how social enterprise is growing, where further support is needed, and what evidence there is to demonstrate the impact of social enterprise on reducing inequality in Scotland.

15:14

Dean Lockhart (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con):

The Scottish Conservatives welcome this debate on social enterprise and the well-deserved recognition of the social enterprise world forum that is taking place around Scotland this week. I congratulate Community Enterprise in Scotland and everyone else who is involved in supporting the event, which will attract more than 1,400 people from around the world, as the cabinet secretary said.

Since the first social enterprise world forum in 2008, social enterprises around the world have transformed lives, revitalised communities and helped to tackle major economic issues. Scotland has been at the forefront of those developments.

As we have heard, there are more than 5,000 social enterprises in Scotland today, playing an increasingly important role in our changing economy and contributing in ways that commercial enterprises do not. They play a unique role in economic, social and community development and they often save money for the public purse—for example, by helping to reduce reoffending rates through employing individuals who are sometimes passed over by the commercial sector. The sector is female-led; more than 60 per cent of social enterprises are led by women.

Social enterprises also reach all parts of Scotland—cities, towns and villages. I add my congratulations to those of the cabinet secretary to the town of Callander, which is in my region, on being named Scotland's first social enterprise place in recognition of its being a hotspot of social enterprise activity. Organisations such as Callander Youth Project Trust and Callander Community Hydro Ltd are great examples of the impact that can be made in communities.

The latest social enterprise census provides an encouraging picture, with more than 110,000 people being employed by social enterprises in Scotland. The debate gives us the opportunity to look at how we can build on that success. The Scottish Conservatives' amendment to the Government motion for debate refers to recent evidence that was given to the then Economy, Jobs and Fair Work Committee by leading stakeholders from the sector. The evidence highlighted some of the key opportunities and challenges that the sector faces, which we need to address in order to ensure that Scotland continues to have a leadership role to play in the future.

I will mention three issues that were highlighted in committee by stakeholders. First, there is the issue of the financial and business support that is available to the sector. In evidence, Nora Senior, chair of the Scottish Government's enterprise and skills strategic board, said:

"Social enterprises are currently on the cusp; they do not fall under a single criterion for investment, and some of them really struggle to get the investment that they need in order to grow. It would be helpful if there was a mechanism to address that."—[Official Report, Economy, Jobs and Fair Work Committee, 27 February 2018; c 6.]

The committee heard further evidence that there is a "cluttered landscape" of financial and business support for development of social enterprises. Grants, project funding and other forms of financial support are available from a long list of agencies, with different objectives and outcomes attached to the funding streams. That is hindering the sector's development.

However, it is not just a question of financial support: social enterprises need business support, too, and it is often difficult for new social enterprises to get help with business planning, setting up an office or hiring staff. I encourage the cabinet secretary to take forward work in that area.

We need to ensure that Government policies for enterprise development in commercial and social enterprises are better aligned, and that support is better co-ordinated across Government agencies. The Scottish Government's "Enterprise and Skills Review: Report on Phase 2" that was published in June 2017 was a missed opportunity to do that, so I would welcome the cabinet secretary's thoughts on how those issues can be addressed in the future.

The role of public procurement contracts is another important issue that was raised by a number of stakeholders in committee. We heard that public procurement policy should be used more effectively to promote social enterprises in local authority areas. The public sector in Scotland spends around £11 billion a year on public procurement of goods and services, but figures that were published last week show that the number of Scottish businesses that are winning work from their local authority has halved over the past decade, from more than 50,000 local suppliers being successful in local tenders in 2008 to just under 30,000 last year. That is a concern, because it means that we are missing the potential to support local businesses—including social enterprises—and communities.

Recent changes to European Union procurement law means that the Scottish Government and local authorities have the legal framework to make a difference in that area and to promote further the level of public procurement from social enterprises, especially those that are supported business, and get them involved in public sector contracts. Again, I look forward to the cabinet secretary addressing that issue in her closing remarks.

Another important concern that was raised with the committee was the lack of clarity about Government policy on social enterprises and in how Government agencies define whether an organisation is a social enterprise. That fundamental concern was raised by a number of witnesses. One told the committee:

"there is a concern ... about uncertainty around the definition of 'social enterprise' ... given the possibility of commercial organisations suggesting that they are social enterprises when they are not."—[Official Report, Economy, Jobs and Fair Work Committee, 6 February 2018; c 49.]

In Scotland, there is no legal definition of a social enterprise. "The Social Enterprise Code" is a helpful guide to best practice, but it is not definitive. As a result, a number of people are confused as to how they should arrange their business affairs—how they should incorporate

their company or business—in order to qualify as a social enterprise.

Another witness told the committee:

"I could not understand how to make the business model work".—[Official Report, Economy, Jobs and Fair Work Committee, 6 February 2018; c 32.]

That is another area that the cabinet secretary should take forward so that there is more clarity on what constitutes a social enterprise.

I conclude by repeating our strong support for the social enterprise sector and wishing the social enterprise world forum every success.

I have outlined some constructive challenges that I believe need to be addressed—they were raised by key stakeholders from the sector—so that the social enterprise sector in Scotland has strong foundations for on-going success.

I move amendment S5M-13813.1, to insert at end:

"; acknowledges the recommendations of the Economy, Jobs and Fair Work committee in its report, *Scotland's Economic Performance* (SP Paper 359), in relation to the need to promote a better understanding of social enterprise in Scotland, and recognises the need to ensure that social enterprises are better able to access financial and other support from government agencies."

15:21

Monica Lennon (Central Scotland) (Lab): I, too, welcome the Cabinet Secretary for Communities and Local Government to her new post, and I thank Angela Constance for her previous service in the area. I also thank the cabinet secretary for lodging her important motion. We are all delighted that the social enterprise world forum is taking place in Edinburgh and that we are hosting delegates from around the world. I hope that the visitors to our capital city have a wonderful experience this week.

We all agree that Scotland is lucky to be home to a host of dynamic and important social enterprises that play roles in all our communities, and often do life-changing work. I look forward to hearing about more positive examples throughout the debate.

For our part, the Labour Party has a proud history of being a champion of social enterprise. It was a Scottish Labour Government that, 17 years ago, created Social Investment Scotland. It was designed to be a vehicle for improved financial access for the social enterprise sector and it is still going strong today, making loans to the sector to enable it to grow. Since its inception in 2001, Social Investment Scotland has invested more than £56 million in 270 organisations across Scotland. That has undoubtedly been positive for the sector, but we believe that more must now be

done to improve the availability and sustainability of financing.

The Labour Party also has strong links with the co-operative movement, which is another positive model for an inclusive economy. Scottish Labour aims to double the size of the co-operative sector in the United Kingdom, and in our industrial strategy we talk about placing Co-operative Development Scotland on a statutory footing.

As we have already heard, there is certainly economic return on investment. There are 5,600 social enterprises in Scotland and they employ 80,000 people. The census that the cabinet secretary mentioned showed that the net worth of our social enterprises is an incredible £5 billion, and they represent £2 billion of gross value added. Some 72 per cent of employees in the sector are paid the real living wage and 64 per cent of social enterprises are led by women. It is good to note that

Positive social impact is, of course, the other crucial return on investment. Social enterprises demonstrate a hugely valuable and ethical way of working and show what can be achieved by setting up an organisation that is motivated by a social or environmental mission rather than by profit. Such organisations can make a huge difference to people's lives, particularly the lives of vulnerable people, and they are increasingly depended upon as austerity strips back our public services.

On housing, for example, when I had a catch-up with Shelter Scotland last week, I heard that someone becomes homeless every 18 minutes in Scotland. It is invaluable that social enterprises such as The Big Issue exist to help people to get back on their feet: 92,000 people have worked as vendors since its creation back in 1991.

Social enterprises can also play a role in regenerating our high streets. Swaddle, in my area in Hamilton, is a social enterprise that was set up by local mums for local mums. It has a vibrant shop and a range of events take place there, from storytelling and singalong sessions to mum-led support groups. It is a great place in which to buy baby clothing, books and other such nice things.

The sector has a strong history of coming up with creative solutions to social challenges. With my proposed member's bill to end period poverty, I have seen at first hand social enterprises responding creatively to that issue in the UK and beyond. For example, I met Bharat Singh Chaturvedi from Sanitree, which is a social enterprise that was founded in Edinburgh to promote sustainable and stigma-free access to period products for women and girls in the Bhind district of India. I was pleased that the cabinet secretary mentioned in her opening remarks the

East Lothian based Hey Girls social enterprise, as its "buy one, give one" model really helps girls from low-income households throughout the UK. It is good to hear that it will be involved in the Scottish Government's free period products scheme. I hope that universal access to period products will follow soon, with my proposed member's bill to end period poverty.

In conclusion, I pay tribute to social enterprises in Scotland for their contribution to the Scottish economy and for the role that they play in all our local communities in Scotland and beyond. It is clear to us that there is an opportunity for well-resourced local authorities and social enterprises to work together to advance their common purpose of making Scotland a better place in which to live.

For all those reasons, we will support the Scottish Government's motion and Dean Lockhart's amendment because we, too, welcome the recommendations in the Economy, Jobs and Fair Work Committee's report and agree that there is a

"need to ensure that social enterprises are better able to access financial and other support from government agencies."

However, it is because of the increased pressure on their services in this age of continued austerity that Scottish Labour seeks to add to the motion.

For that reason, I move amendment S5M-13813.2, to insert at end:

", and notes that, in the current climate of austerity, social enterprises have taken on an even more significant role, by filling gaps left by cuts to the welfare system and pressure on public services."

15:27

Patrick Harvie (Glasgow) (Green): Like other members, I welcome Aileen Campbell to her new role in the Government and congratulate her on her appointment.

The Greens will—like all the other parties, I hope—vote for the motion and the amendments at decision time.

In debating social enterprise, I will first indulge myself with a little bit of nostalgia. I was 10 years old or thereabouts in my first role in the social enterprise sector. My mum and some pals decided that they were not willing to wait around for the Government to finally get around to doing something about recycling and that they were going to set up their own project. Waste management, recycling and zero-waste approaches are one area in which social enterprise and community activism organised through social enterprises really have led the way.

Before Government at any level was really doing anything about the issue, communities took the initiative themselves with a borrowed van, sometimes roping in their kids, as I was roped in, to hurl bundles of newspapers around on a Saturday morning; it felt like a lot of fun at the time.

That whole process led to the development of a significant sector that developed innovative approaches to resource use and zero-waste policies. Eventually, local and national Government recognised that they had a responsibility, too, and they stepped up to it because of the community leadership that had happened.

After university, I slightly fell on hard times and had to go back and live with my mum and dad. My mother said, "Yes, of course you can come back and live here—there'll always be a place for you. And you can go out to work on my new furniture recycling project." That initiative and community drive were still there.

A theme that ran through both those projects was the need to place real value not just on the physical resources that could be diverted from landfill, but on the human resources—the value of the human beings whose effort, creativity and talent were not being used by the private sector. Many people are far from the labour market, but social enterprise is fantastically creative at finding ways of bringing them back, not only to productive work, but to relationships with one another and the community around them. I see from the world forum's programme that that attitude to resource management and to zero-waste approaches remains a fundamental part of the social enterprise movement.

Intervention from Government is still required. We have recently heard bad news about Greenlight Recycling in Dumbarton. I am not sure whether this is an interest that I should declare formally, but my mother has been a director of that recycling project since its inception. It is sad to see the project failing. The project encountered the problem of the decline in demand for and therefore the price of the recyclates, but that is not the only problem, although it set the fundamental context. Government intervention is necessary if we are to make sure that such social enterprises have the economic context in which they can work effectively and deliver their services sustainably. It is clear that a free-market approach fails to achieve the social and environmental return from such projects; it also fails to achieve that highly inclusive and diverse approach to employment that social enterprises so often achieve.

It has been said, quite correctly, that social enterprise means different things to different people—it is an umbrella or catch-all term. For

some, it is a nice-to-have optional extra in the economy—something that is akin to philanthropy. For others, it is a revenue-generating source that pays for charitable work. I think, and Greens believe strongly, that along with co-operatives, mutuals and community ownership, social enterprise in its broadest sense should be seen as a better, fundamentally superior basis for our whole economy.

Let us look at the characteristics of social enterprises, which members across the chamber will recognise in organisations in their own communities. We see organisations that recognise diversity in their employment practices and among the diverse needs of the service users with whom they engage. We see organisations that have a higher-than-average commitment to paying the living wage and to having low wage differentials organisations that do not have extreme high pay for managers and which recognise their responsibility to create a more equal economy. We see organisations that respect the responsibility that they have for the whole impact of their economic activity. Essentially, such an economy is one that is driven by values rather than by a desire to extract ever more private profit.

We should be aiming for a social economy, because the alternative is to continue to tolerate the antisocial economy that we have today. I hope that the Scottish Government will commit to ensuring that its resources and all forms of business support services for the private sector are not only open to social enterprise, but positively incentivise businesses to adopt social enterprise models.

15:33

Willie Rennie (North East Fife) (LD): I, too, welcome the cabinet secretary to her new position; I also welcome her contribution this afternoon.

I welcome the delegates who are attending the forum this week. The very fact that the forum exists and that people from across the globe are trying to enhance the social enterprise network is heartening. Furthermore, the fact that the forum is being held here shows that it is important to this country. I hope that the delegates have a fruitful week.

The sector is growing—it is up by 10 per cent. There are some organisations in the sector in my constituency. Castle Enterprise Scotland—a furniture project—was established in 1993. The secret to its success is that it provides local employment and training opportunities and household goods for people from disadvantaged families, which is a great combination.

Dunshalt Community Shop is probably the newest social enterprise on the scene. The project

got £100,000 from the Scottish land fund and the community managed to raise £30,000 locally—from 200 local people—in its endeavour to reopen the village shop. Dunshalt is a tiny village just outside Auchtermuchty, whose shop closed last year. The community has engaged in a big battle to try to reopen the shop, and I wish it all success in doing so.

At the other end of the scale, in Tayport, in north-east Fife, right up by Dundee, people have raised a whopping £2.8 million to develop a sports, arts and craft business as well as an employment and training facility. The community will try to take advantage of its proximity to the V&A, which will open later this week, by providing a camper van and camping site—the closest site to the museum. When the site opens, I encourage people to spend a weekend there and take advantage of the opportunity to see the sea eagles that are often spotted off Tentsmuir Point, just round the corner.

I have given members a flavour of the wide spectrum of social enterprise and of how the sector is buoyant and growing, but we should not pretend that it is all easy. The social enterprise census gave us some stark numbers. Some 40 per cent of social enterprises are housing associations, which are good institutions but are perhaps not what one first thinks of in the context of social enterprise, so the situation does not reflect the wide diversity that we would like in the sector. Some 57 per cent of social enterprises are small, 34 per cent have been going for 10 years or less, and 41 per cent made a loss in the past year, which should be cause for great concern.

There is quite a turnover in the sector. Some social enterprises find it difficult to make the finances work. Given that part of the approach is to try to make them financially independent, that should be a cause for concern. That is why I was pleased that the cabinet secretary confirmed that the £2 million for Just Enterprise and the growth, start-up and recovery support mechanisms will continue and that the position will be reviewed within the next year. That will be welcome, because the area requires support.

My wife previously worked for a couple of social enterprises, both of which subsequently closed down. One was a book recycling project in Cowdenbeath, and the other was a paint recycling project in Glenrothes. Neither managed to continue; they struggled to make the finances and the financial model work.

Those examples, just from Fife, show that although some social enterprises grow and achieve great success, others do not do so, even when the model that was initially established was sound. We should therefore not get too carried away in thinking that the sector is vibrant and is constantly growing. Although there are more social

enterprises, many find it very difficult to make ends meet. We should be working constantly to find and put in place the financial support and mechanisms that can make social enterprises financially independent. It is right that we create social capital and boost the environment, but it is also about financial independence and a new model of business, which should not require Government constantly to step in to support it and enable it to succeed.

At the other end of the scale, what some of the big social enterprises have managed to achieve is quite astonishing. I mention just two. Cafédirect is an innovative scheme that ploughs 50 per cent of its profits back into the coffee-growing communities from which it buys its products. Indeed, the communities own 50 per cent of the company's shares. It is an international social enterprise that provides a good, Fairtrade, environmentally sustainable product for customers here—a great example of a thriving social enterprise.

The Big Issue, which has been mentioned, was established in 1991. Since then, 92,000 vendors have benefited, to the tune of £115 million. That is a hugely successful social enterprise. I hope that the social enterprises in Dunshalt, Cupar and Tayport one day achieve the dizzy heights of Cafédirect and The Big Issue.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: We move to the open debate. Speeches should be up to six minutes long, please. I remind all members who wish to speak to press their request-to-speak buttons.

15:39

Bruce Crawford (Stirling) (SNP): I am delighted to participate in this afternoon's very important debate. It is true to say that, like others, my constituency has so many fantastic social enterprises that it would be an impossible job to name all those with which I have had an association and have come to admire. Therefore, I hope that those who do not get a name check today will understand why I have decided to tell the story of just one very special small town in my constituency, which is Callander.

As the cabinet secretary outlined in her opening remarks, Callander has just won the fantastic national accolade of becoming Scotland's first social enterprise town. This accreditation recognises—as Dean Lockhart rightly said—what an incredible hotspot for social enterprise activity the town has become since I was first elected to the Scottish Parliament in 1999. Callander, on the edge of the Highlands, is the largest settlement in the Loch Lomond and the Trossachs national park and is a predominantly tourism town. Its resilient

community has, for more than 20 years, used social enterprise to tackle local issues.

Presiding Officer, let me take you on a whistlestop tour of Callander, to tell the story of why it has received this well-deserved recognition. Let me start at Callander community hydro scheme, which was built by Callander Community Development Trust through its subsidiary Callander Community Hydro Ltd. Commissioned in October 2014 and now generating to the national grid, it is Scotland's first community-owned hydro renewable project. It was the first to be built on ground that is owned by the Forestry Commission. The scheme donates its profits to the trust, which has funded more than 40 local projects since March 2016. A substantial income-up to £2.85 million over the next 20 years, I understand—is expected to be generated from its activities.

The next stop on our tour is the remarkable SS Sir Walter Scott, which is the oldest surviving screw-driven steamship in regular passenger service in the UK. Whoever thought that they would find that out this afternoon? It has been operating on Loch Katrine for more than 100 years, and is now owned and run by a charitable trust as part of a wider visitor attraction that last year won the award for best visitor attraction in Forth valley.

Coming back down the road into Callander itself, we stop off at McLaren community leisure centre, which is a community-led organisation that operates extensive sports and leisure facilities. The pupils of McLaren high school, which is next door, make significant use of the centre through a dual-use model.

Not far down the road, we come to Bridgend, and the remarkable Callander Youth Project Trust. The trust runs the five-star Callander hostel, which opened in 2014 and has since welcomed more than 20,000 overnight guests, trained more than 18 young people in hospitality and created 40 jobs in the local area. It also runs a cafe and events package and has recently branched out into wedding packages. The trust also uses the hostel as a base for a wide range of other youth activities. As Chris Martin from the trust said recently.

"Callander Hostel is a prime example of how a business can be set up in such a way as to generate income but also to make a significant social impact in our community. Over the years Callander Youth Project Trust has made a huge difference to the life chances of young people in the area ... to develop local talent and encourage entrepreneurship."

Next on the tour, we arrive at the beautiful Bracklinn falls. When a storm washed away the bridge at the popular falls, Callander Community Development Trust set about raising funds and setting up a partnership to replace it, and the new bridge has developed into a unique go-to

destination for visitors. Rightly disturbed by the rising number of empty shops in the town, the same trust brought together a group of artists and crafters in a co-operative that is now the independent company Creative in Callander, which is run by volunteers, has been central to the regeneration of an empty shop on the main street and offers local artists the chance to display and sell their art.

Of course, for any town to be successful, it needs to have the right homes for people to live in and, through the work of Rural Stirling Housing Association, the offer in Callander is about to be expanded significantly through the development of new homes.

I have mentioned just a few of the huge number of community groups and social enterprises that have responded to the social and economic challenges of living in Callander by using the social enterprise model. Those groups range from the community newspaper the *Ben Ledi View*, which I am sure that the Presiding Officer has read, to the community cinema that was established by the Callander Film Society.

Callander is a beautiful little town with beautiful big ideas. It has shown us what is possible when a community comes together to take on local issues and make change happen, and it is an exemplar for other communities. I know that Scotland is bristling with brilliant social enterprises, so it is an outstanding achievement for this fantastic small town to have been named the country's first social enterprise place. I heartily congratulate everyone involved on their dedication and commitment to Callander, and I look forward to welcoming Aileen Campbell, in her new role, there this evening, when we will celebrate that remarkable accolade.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Maybe you could put on a bus, Mr Crawford.

15:46

Gordon Lindhurst (Lothian) (Con): As a Lothian MSP, it gives me great pleasure to welcome the social enterprise world forum to Edinburgh again. A multitude of participants, including social enterprise leaders, policy makers, commercial partners and young people, are expected to make the trip to our country, which is seen by many of them as a world leader in this field.

We should be proud of what we have achieved in Scotland, but as the Government's social enterprise strategy recognises, there is still much more that we can do if social enterprise is to fully become part of mainstream society and business.

I will begin by highlighting an example that shows the immense value that social enterprise

already holds in our society. The Economy, Jobs and Fair Work Committee recently completed a report on Scotland's economic performance, which my colleague Dean Lockhart touched on. During one evidence session, Jonny Kinross, chief executive of the Grassmarket Community Project here in Edinburgh, with which I am familiar, talked about individuals who are "not wanted" by the commercial or even the public sector. Of the people the project has helped, he said:

"you will never get a more loyal member of staff or anyone who is more grateful for a job. I have had people sitting in my office telling me that they would do anything for the Grassmarket. It is a hugely privileged position to have someone in your office saying that about you. That is because, in their view, you have literally saved them—you saved their life."—[Official Report, Economy, Jobs and Fair Work Committee, 6 February 2018; c 34.]

Those emotive words give us insight into how entrepreneurship can deliver improved social outcomes.

During my time as an MSP, I have seen at first hand that social enterprise comes in all shapes and sizes. Tiphereth Camphill community, which is based in Edinburgh Pentlands in my region, offers residential care and a variety of day services to people with learning disabilities and autism. Tiphereth's social enterprise projects, which include making and delivering compost and firewood, give people with additional support needs a route into employment. For Tiphereth's customers, the product has that added value that is about more than just price, quality or availability.

The social enterprise strategy notes the greater appetite that the Scottish public now have for such social products, and it goes on to hint at a social certification scheme to increase awareness, which was developed further in last year's action plan. Given that that very initiative was called for in evidence to our committee earlier this year, I would be grateful if the cabinet secretary could provide us with an update on progress.

Other social enterprises help people in different ways, often stepping in because everyone else has left. The motto of Castle Community Bank is

"Banking, but with a community spirit."

Indeed, as the major banks seem to be taking flight from the high street, credit unions and community banks are stepping in to see whether they can provide a viable alternative. Castle Community Bank has been looking at the possibility of doing that in parts of Edinburgh, including Juniper Green and Leith, and its willingness to step in in that way has been a comfort to those who have felt abandoned.

Those are just a few examples of the social and community benefits that can be delivered through such entrepreneurship.

As we celebrate those successes, we should recognise that there is still a lot more that can be done by social enterprises themselves, their commercial partners and—this is important—by Government. In the economy committee we heard evidence about a frustration with Government tendering processes and the need to recognise social value.

Social enterprises have spoken competing with traditional commercial businesses that perhaps do not place as much emphasis on social benefit as social enterprises do, and they feel that that is forgotten in the procurement process. If social enterprises are to survive and compete, there must be a way for them to not only showcase the value that they bring but be able to do so easily. After all, many social enterprises are small, with 43 per cent of them generating an income of less than £50,000. Therefore, a flexible holistic Scottish model of measurement would be welcome.

As we celebrate what is going on in Scotland, we should help social enterprises that want to expand further afield to do so. There is an interest elsewhere for us to go further, given our international reputation. As the Government strategy recognises, social enterprises should be able to access high-quality export advice. I wonder whether the cabinet secretary will tell us about that and whether last week's announcement of an export partnership drive with the Confederation of British Industry will include room for successful Scottish social enterprises to work within the scheme to help similar entrepreneurs to export.

Let me conclude by thanking those who work in our social enterprise sector and wishing them well for the week ahead.

15:52

James Kelly (Glasgow) (Lab): As other members have done, I congratulate Aileen Campbell on her promotion to the Scottish cabinet and wish her well in her new post.

Many members have highlighted the benefits of social enterprises and given practical examples in their constituencies. Some have also talked about the statistics that back up the benefits of social enterprises: there are 5,600 social enterprises in Scotland, they employ more than 80,000 people and they generate £5 billion to the Scottish economy.

All those things are important, but I very much agree with the points that Patrick Harvie made about social enterprises taking a different, more ethical approach. There is not the same focus on the profit or loss on the balance sheet, and there tends to be a more collective approach between the people who run and use the social enterprises,

which leads to more ethical trading and better working conditions. That was demonstrated by Monica Lennon, who quoted the fact that 72 per cent of social enterprises pay the living wage and that 64 per cent are led by women. Clearly, social enterprises are trailblazers in areas of the Scottish economy in which we want there to be best practice.

Social enterprises play an important role in taking on many of the challenges throughout Scotland's communities. We have a growing elderly population. It is good that people are able to live longer, but challenges come with that. Some older people have issues with loneliness, particularly if their partner passes away. If those elderly people are able to participate in a social enterprise, or if a social enterprise is able to interact with them through providing a service, that can be very important.

Social exclusion remains a challenge in communities in which there is a lot of deprivation and people are not included in traditional employment opportunities. Social enterprises are better at reaching out to ensure that people get chances. It is fair to say that there has been more pressure on public service budgets in recent years, which has led to cuts and left a shortfall and gaps that social enterprises have been good at filling.

The Glasgow region that I represent has many good examples of social enterprises. Patrick Harvie has a members' business debate on the issue tomorrow. In Rutherglen, the local charity Healthy n Happy has a couple of social enterprise initiatives. CamGlen bike town is great at promoting participation in cycling, which is really important. We had a good members' business debate last week on the European championships, in which members spoke about the importance of building on the event's legacy. Organisations such as CamGlen bike town provide support by encouraging people to cycle, promoting greater infrastructure for cycling and helping people with bike repair and maintenance. Healthy n Happy also has the Number 18 social enterprise in a former church in Rutherglen. Many groups in the area use it as a community facility, including CamGlen radio, which I was honoured to visit last Friday.

More use should be made of co-operatives, about which I declare an interest as a member of the Co-operative Party. I convene the cross-party group in the Scottish Parliament on co-operatives, which recently discussed housing co-ops. Monica Lennon spoke about some of the challenges around housing, and West Whitlawburn Housing Co-operative in my area has been a shining example of how to address some of those challenges. However, no housing co-ops have

been established in Scotland for 15 years. We are missing a trick in housing and more generally by not promoting co-ops enough, and I would like to see the Scotlish Government make co-operatives and Co-operative Development Scotland central to its economic and social strategy.

I agree with other members in their support for social enterprises and I emphasise that we need to bring co-ops more into the Government's economic strategy. I will be interested to hear the cabinet secretary's views on that issue in her summing up.

15:58

John Mason (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP): I think that I last spoke in a debate here on social enterprise in February 2017. Since then, we would all agree that the sector has developed, although some of the issues and challenges—including raising public understanding of social enterprises—probably continue.

I understand that there is no legal definition of a social enterprise, but there is a pretty clear voluntary code with criteria, values and behaviour. The key criteria are that a social enterprise must sell goods or services, profits must not be distributed and enterprises should be managed in an accountable and transparent way.

If we leave aside housing associations, which I see as a distinct sector, as Willie Rennie has suggested, one of the largest social enterprises in Scotland is the Wise Group, which many members will have heard of and which is based in the east end of Glasgow in my constituency. It is involved in a range of areas that include community justice, by helping people who are coming out of prison; getting into work, by supporting people who are looking for employment; and energy advice and support. Its 2017 accounts show that its turnover was £13.7 million and the average number of employees was 236.

Although many social enterprises are quite small and local, which is a good thing, we can see that it is also possible to have large and national social enterprises, and that makes me think that there is potential to have more of them on a larger scale. For example, the Wise Group also operates beyond Scotland, in the north-east of England.

Ownership has been mentioned already, and there are clearly a variety of ownership models for organisations. Such ownership models are inextricably linked to the purpose of the organisation. Sometimes we on the Economy, Energy and Fair Work Committee and in Parliament as a whole focus mainly on what a business produces. Is it building nuclear submarines? Is it involved in renewables? Is it in the tourism or hospitality sectors? Perhaps we do

not concentrate so much on the ownership model and, related to the ownership model, the organisation's motives and purpose. Ownership tends to drive an organisation's purpose and, in most cases, a private or listed company will aim first and foremost at maximising profit. They might well have other aims, such as being good suppliers, customers or employers, but if the profit goes entirely to one owner or a group of owners, or to a wider range of institutional shareholders, that is bound to affect the way in which the organisation behaves.

However, there are other ownership models that the public and we in Parliament pay less attention to. Employee ownership is one, and the cooperative model is another, as Mr Kelly said. A social enterprise is not a specific model of ownership but, as with a charity, any profits are reinvested and not distributed. That means that the organisation will not want to run at a loss but the incentive to make profits at all costs is reduced. Motivation is also important for an organisation. I think that it was Brian Souter who said that, in relation to the bus sector, it was difficult to get a public service ethos into a private bus company. Ownership is therefore important and it affects how an organisation is seen by those inside and outside of that organisation. The fact that an organisation is not run purely for profit changes the perception of staff, customers and the wider public.

"Scotland's Social Enterprise Strategy 2016-26" makes for interesting reading two years after its publication. On pages 11 and 12, the document talks about future influences and trends; some of those were and are opportunities and challenges and I will focus on a few of them. Under the "Political" and "Enabling Legislation" headings are opportunities in early learning and childcare. That sector is developing and has many opportunities. However, there might still be uncertainty about how much will be public sector provision, how much will be private sector, and how much might fall under social enterprise. Under "Future Public Services" there is the suggestion of more preventative services; that might have moved more slowly and the jury is still out on where we are going on that, because we have to disinvest in reactive services to invest more in preventative services. Perhaps the social enterprise sector has not therefore been able to develop as much in that area as was hoped.

The strategy also mentions "Demographic Change". We have an ageing and changing population, and there are opportunities, but in an area such as a council area with a larger population, there are challenges in providing guaranteed care services, such as those that my mother receives in South Lanarkshire. We can see why local authorities might be more inclined to use

their larger in-house provision rather than trying to deal with a number of smaller social enterprises. Those are the kind of challenges that we need to face.

"Ethical Consumption" is also mentioned. There is definitely an opportunity there. However, it is harder for people who are on a limited income, and who are virtually forced to buy the cheapest produce because it is all that they can afford, to look at some of the issues around ethical consumption.

Under "A Rebalanced Economy", the strategy says:

"The continuing, long-term priority of achieving a more balanced economy is driving a broader and more diverse business base. This implies a growing need to foster social entrepreneurship, increase the rate of social enterprise formation, and encourage more diverse forms of business ownership."

Are we making progress on that? I am not sure that we are. I totally agree that we need a more balanced economy and a broader, more diverse, business base but I confess that in practice, when I meet someone for a coffee in Glasgow, it is very easy to go to Caffè Nero or Costa rather than making the effort to go somewhere that is run by a social enterprise.

We have some distance to go on a number of those points and we need to keep under review what else we can do in Parliament and on committees such as the Economy, Energy and Fair Work Committee to support and encourage social enterprise. I have a feeling that I am running out of time—

The Deputy Presiding Officer (Christine Grahame): We have some time in hand so I am being generous.

John Mason: I will mention just one other thing—the Glasgow Social Enterprise Network, which was established in 2017 and is now incorporated as a company limited by guarantee. I believe that it is leading the way specifically on social enterprise in the Glasgow third sector interface. The network talks about some of the things that it has been doing, such as facilitating space for members, a platform to form partnerships and other great things.

I very much welcome the forum coming to Edinburgh and I wish it well. I am sure that it will be considering some of these issues in the coming days.

16:05

Jamie Halcro Johnston (Highlands and Islands) (Con): I join other members in welcoming the Social Enterprise World Forum, which is back in Edinburgh after ten years.

This week's forum will be a truly collaborative event, with a range of sponsors from the world of business and enterprise as well as local organisations such as the University of Edinburgh. It is also positive to see the support from the partner organisations—the British Council, Community Enterprise in Scotland, the Scottish Government and Social Enterprise UK.

It has undoubtedly been a successful decade for social enterprise in Scotland. As MSPs, we have seen many become established in our communities over those years—no doubt across every region represented here in this Parliament. Some Scotlish social enterprises, such as Social Bite, have gained an international reputation and more are looking towards exporting beyond our borders.

Social enterprises have a significant role to play in our economy as well as working towards socially conscious ends and responsible business practices. In many cases, people can see the direct benefits that accrue from well-run social enterprises reinvesting profits from their services back into communities and projects.

We have also heard about the opportunities presented in building productivity, skills development and, of course, employment. I am pleased to be able to look at so many social enterprises in my area and see the possibilities that they have created in relation to employment in particular and, as Dean Lockhart and Monica Lennon both said, many are led by women—rather more than in the case of conventional businesses. Others have provided fantastic new opportunities to people with disabilities.

My region, the Highlands and Islands, accounts for an enormous proportion of Scotland's social enterprise landscape. As we know, the Highlands and Islands Enterprise area accounts for just 9 per cent of Scotland's population but contains within it some 22 per cent of Scotland's social enterprises.

These organisations have thrived in rural communities, but especially in those that are remote. Again, the social enterprise census illustrates this well, showing that 34 per cent of Scotland's social enterprises are found in rural areas. In my region, this trend is quite evident. In many cases, social enterprises are created by necessity. Sometimes, it is in response to a service provided by a local business being lost; sometimes, it is about providing services that are taken for granted in the central belt; on other occasions, it is a response to a public service being withdrawn, with local people coming together to take over the reins.

In many cases, though, social enterprises find a gap in the marketplace and offer something new. COPE in Shetland has for some years built up an

excellent social enterprise for local people, while also providing employment and skills development for people with learning difficulties or autism spectrum disorders. It is an organisation that has shown significant growth.

I hope that this will strike a chord with the minister, as her colleague Jamie Hepburn recently visited COPE. I do not believe I am overemphasising his comments when I say that he was clearly impressed by what he saw in Shetland.

Aileen Campbell: In the summer months, I had the real privilege of seeing some of the work that COPE does through the Shetland Soap Company. Like my colleague Jamie Hepburn, I was impressed by the real commitment and passion shown and the impact that COPE is having on Shetland.

Jamie Halcro Johnston: I certainly agree with the minister on that. I hope that both she and Jamie Hepburn will help to spread some of the lessons on good practice that they have learned from places such as Shetland.

In addition, other social enterprises in my region act to preserve local heritage and boost their local area by providing visitor attractions. In 2004, when I was a young candidate just starting out in this politics game, I visited Knockando Woolmill in Moray which, at the time, was an entry in the BBC's "Restoration" series.

The place is steeped in over 200 years of history, but it was in a poor state of repair and was struggling to survive. However, it reopened in 2014 and now Knockando has a history and a future, which was saved by those who worked hard and who recognise the importance of our rural past.

Other social enterprises have grown to become indispensable parts of their communities through promoting mental health, tackling addiction and giving ex-offenders a second chance. Last summer, I visited Orkney Blide Trust and learned about its fantastic work to support people by providing opportunities in its catering and gardening social enterprises. As a member of the Economy, Jobs and Fair Work Committee, I had the opportunity to explore some of the work of social enterprises during the committee's recent inquiry into Scotland's economic performance, which others have mentioned.

To get a better grasp of the status of social enterprises in Scotland, we need better information. The social enterprise census is a starting point, but much of the information about the performance of social enterprises is impossible to find. In many cases, the issues that surround social enterprises overlap with those for other small businesses. Many who might consider

establishing a social enterprise feel that they do not have the skills and knowledge to do so. My party has tried to address that by outlining the need for the promotion of social enterprises and businesses generally within education, to inspire a new generation of entrepreneurs. We also know well the challenges that small businesses can face in accessing public sector procurement, which has been mentioned. We could look at the many successes where small businesses are supported in accessing public procurement, nationally and locally.

At its core, diversity in our economy is undoubtedly positive. Social enterprises in particular can adapt to local change. They can reflect local circumstances and priorities by being grounded in particular communities. They can even bring communities together, as local people become involved and their organisations become more visible. Many have led on ethical and environmentally sensitive business models.

It is positive that Scotland is a significant destination of interest for social enterprise and is bringing so many people from around the globe to engage in this year's world forum. Even a quick glance at the programme shows that it is a truly international event, with plenty of opportunity for people to share experiences, network and discuss the next steps for their enterprises. I wish them every success for the week ahead.

16:12

Tom Arthur (Renfrewshire South) (SNP): It is a genuine pleasure to speak in the debate. I welcome Aileen Campbell to her new position and congratulate her on her appointment. I also pay tribute to Angela Constance for her work in her previous position. She has been a fantastic champion for equalities issues and I am sure that she will continue to be so on the back benches.

One of the great joys of debating social enterprises is that it is an opportunity to hear about the various social enterprises across Scotland. This debate is celebrating social enterprises from across the entire globe. It is a real honour for Scotland, and a well-earned one, that the world forum is coming home after 10 years. The statistics show that there will be 1,400 delegates from across the world, which is testament to the size and scale and the energy and dynamism of the global social enterprise movement.

Before I talk about that, I want to bring things a bit closer to home—to my constituency of Renfrewshire South, to be specific—and touch on a few of the fantastic social enterprises that operate there, as they give a fantastic example of the transformative impact that social enterprises can have in their communities. Take the Neilston

Development Trust, which was established seven years ago, originally as a project to take ownership of a former bank, and which is now a thriving community cafe, where I am pleased to host my surgeries. Based in the cafe is also the Neilston & Uplawmoor First Responders, which is a group that I have spoken about previously in the Parliament. That is an excellent example of partnership working between social enterprises and other groups.

Also present in the Bank Cafe is a cycle repair initiative, which plays an invaluable role in promoting active travel in Neilston and the wider East Renfrewshire area. I have had the privilege of meeting some of the individuals who work there. Last year, I met an individual who had recently started a training programme and who was aiming for a City & Guilds qualification. He came from a difficult background—he had been in and out of the criminal justice system and had to an extent lost hope—but the opportunity to gain a set of skills, to work and to learn about cycle maintenance was absolutely transformative for him. It gave him a real sense of pride and ambition and, rather than think about the past and what might have been, he was talking about the future. That is just one small example of the incredible impact that social enterprises can have, not just on communities but on the individuals who work for those enterprises.

I cannot talk about Neilston Development Trust without mentioning the windfall that it received—and I use that term advisedly—from the sale of its stake in the Neilston wind farm, which generated £2 million for the trust. It now has a substantial sum of money at its disposal, and I have been pleased to have conversations with Neilston Development Trust, which I know will be looking to use that windfall to maximise opportunities for other groups, and indeed individuals, within Neilston and the wider area.

I also want to touch on Local Energy Action Plan, which is based in Lochwinnoch and also operates in Bridge of Weir, in my colleague Derek Mackay's constituency. It does a range of excellent work promoting energy environmental efficiencies. For example, it has a car club, it provides advice and support, and it is involved in food sustainability. I look forward to working with that organisation as we move into the winter months, to provide information and support to my constituents, to ensure that they can stay warm this winter, but in a way that does not break the piggy-bank.

I want to mention Active Communities, which is originally a Paisley-based organisation—I know that my colleague George Adam will speak later, so I am sure that we will hear plenty about Paisley-based organisations—but Active

Communities also operates in Johnstone. I will highlight a project that it is involved in, which is to take over the former Johnstone police station. It has recently been awarded £10,000 from the Renfrewshire Council community empowerment fund, and I pay tribute to my SNP colleague Councillor Iain Nicolson, the leader of Renfrewshire Council, and to the administration for the energy and drive that they have shown in engaging with social enterprises and community groups across Renfrewshire and in my Renfrewshire South constituency.

Active Communities started 15 years ago as a jogging and walking group. It has now expanded into a range of other areas, with more than 700 people participating every single week, and the projects envisaged for what I hope will be the successful acquisition of the former Johnstone police station are really impressive. Those include setting up a men's shed and providing a permanent base for Kairos, a new and inclusive women's initiative that Active Communities is pioneering. Kairos is led and developed by local women, and provides drop-in sessions and personal development courses.

Before I conclude, I would like to pick up on a few remarks that were made by other members and in the Opposition amendments. Monica Lennon's amendment, which referred to filling the gaps, made an important point. There is a gap to be filled as a consequence of austerity. Given the nature of the debate, I do not want to engage in political point scoring, but we face challenges that simply cannot be met by the state or by local government in these times, and social enterprises pay an invaluable role. Along with many other people in society, such as unpaid carers, they really are the unsung heroes, and many services simply could not be delivered without their effort and energy.

Patrick Harvie is not in the chamber at the moment, but I want to mention a point that he made, speaking to social enterprises as a model for the wider economy. He spoke of an economy driven by values, and that reflects something that Duncan Thorp from Social Enterprise Scotland stated in a recent blog. The fact that we struggle to define social enterprises has been a theme of this debate, but Duncan Thorp said:

"Ultimately it's about building a new kind of economy, where everyone is included and where everyone can prosper ... We want to drive forward wealth creation, ethical business practices and fairer workplaces."

At times, we debate wealth creation, fair work or ethical business practices as existing in silos and being independent and separate from each other, but in social enterprises we see them all working together and we see the benefit that they bring. Social enterprises will continue to deliver for our local communities and to provide a model for the kind of economy that we aspire to be in future.

I conclude by wishing all the delegates to the forum the very best for a successful week.

16:18

Daniel Johnson (Edinburgh Southern) (Lab): I begin by drawing members' attention to my entry in the register of members' interests. I am a company director of a business with retail interests in Edinburgh. That is why I am also very pleased to speak in the debate. In some ways, I want to follow on from the remarks that Tom Arthur has just made, because this is an opportunity to reflect not only on social enterprises themselves but on the changing face of business, and on the real role that social enterprise has played in that changing world.

I am an unapologetic child of the 1980s. When someone says "business" to me, even as someone who has worked in business, I cannot help but think of images of the film "Wall Street"—Gordon Gekko, red braces and business that is driven by asset stripping and profiteering from the job losses of downtrodden workers.

Indeed, there is much in business that is unpalatable, but I think that the situation has changed, and markedly so, in recent years. When I think about my working life—I started work just before the beginning of the millennium—I can see that we are no longer in a situation in which business sees social responsibility as something that it has to do and which is to be tucked away at the end of annual reports. Today, when I go to meetings of the Confederation of British Industry and other business organisations, I see that they recognise that diversity and social responsibility are core to what they do, and that their businesses are better because of that. It is not a coincidence that, over that period of time, we have begun to see social enterprises playing a hugely important role.

Some members have this afternoon discussed the need for a definition of social enterprise. It is difficult to give a definition of what a social enterprise is, because they are very diverse. However, at their core are three critical elements. The first is that they are unashamedly commercial-they seek to run a business and develop a profit. However, critically, that profit is reinvested along the lines of their wider social aims and core purposes. In that regard, I take issue slightly with what John Mason said: profit itself is not the problem; the issue is what that profit is used for. That is true not only for social enterprise but for wider private business as well, because good business reinvests its profit in its productive capacity and in its workers. That is critically important. That is the example that social enterprises can provide.

That is also why I am proud to be speaking in the debate from the Labour benches, because I think that there is a Labour case for business. We have a strong record in terms of creating social investment in Scotland, as my colleague Monica Lennon pointed out.

I believe fundamentally that, at its best, business creates opportunity. It creates work and jobs-jobs that are not merely about earning a wage but which empower the individual. Businesses that do that do so by supporting and including their workers. The change that we see in modern business is that businesses now recognise not only that that is a good thing to do for wider reasons, but that it makes their businesses more productive. As we move towards a knowledge economy, that becomes critically important. The only way in which a business can be a productive one in the knowledge economy is if it includes and empowers its workers and reinvests. The old model of asset-stripping. profiteering businesses that try to extract profit for private good is simply bust and belongs to the past. Gordon Gekko may not be gone, but we are in a period of change.

The one question that I would pose is whether we are right to treat social enterprise as such a different category of business. I think that what is of critical importance is that, as the Government looks at its policy of supporting social enterprise, it does so in an integrated way across its enterprise policy. I very much support the comments to that end that other members have made.

It would be entirely remiss of me to make this speech without mentioning social enterprises in my constituency. I would like to disagree with everyone who has so far spoken in the debate and say that it is Edinburgh Southern that is the true home of social enterprise in Scotland. I can give two examples of why. First, there is Dig In Bruntsfield in my constituency, which is a fantastic example of the community coming together in the face of the loss of a local independent business to create a community greengrocer. More than 200 people came together to form it at its first meeting, with 300 people now owning shares. It has been in existence for the past four years, and very successfully so.

Secondly, I highlight the work of the Bike Station. Before I do so, as an aside I note that the bicycle seems to be a fundamental part of an awful lot of social enterprises in Scotland, and a common thread between them. I do not know why that is; it might be something to examine. The Bike Station grew from an informal bike swap in Sciennes primary school in my constituency, recycling bikes and teaching bicycle maintenance.

Its most recent balance-bike project has delivered more than 100 bikes to nurseries across Lothian, thereby ensuring that young children learn early habits that are vital in terms of their health and fitness.

What those social enterprises have in common is the fact that they invest back into their wider aims in a way that is conscious of the wider benefits for the wider community. As I said earlier, that point is vital in relation to social enterprises.

While it is hugely important that the world forum is happening in Edinburgh—it is of huge benefit when Scotland hosts discussions, whether they are about social enterprise or other initiatives—we must look to the future of social enterprise and ensure that it is not just a sticking plaster for other services in our community, as is referred to in the Labour amendment. It should also be properly supported in the broader context of our enterprise strategy, as is set out in the Tory amendment. I will support both amendments this evening.

16:25

George Adam (Paisley) (SNP): This is a perfect opportunity to celebrate the progress that we have made in the past 10 years, and to acknowledge all that Scotland is doing to promote social enterprise—not just at home but globally. It is also an opportunity for me to draw attention to the excellent work that is going on in my constituency and the wider Renfrewshire community. I say "wider Renfrewshire community", but I really just mean Paisley.

It is phenomenal that Scotland is recognised as a world leader in the facilitation and promotion of social enterprise, but it is important to look past that global praise and to examine the great work going on in all of our constituencies. Last week, during the programme for government debate, I stressed that dignity and respect, and the drive to put people first, are at the heart of everything that the Government is doing. We should draw attention to and support our local social enterprises, which can make a real difference and effect positive change in our communities.

Unlike traditional businesses, which focus on making profits for shareholders, the social enterprise model uses business practices to achieve socially positive goals. That could be anything from delivering youth activities to running a community hall. I have seen the success of that first hand in my constituency and know that, for many people, the benefits can be life changing. In Paisley alone, the social enterprise model benefits thousands in the community.

There are plenty of excellent organisations that I could name as testament to Scotland's success as a social enterprise advocate, so I wondered which

I would mention first. While listening to John Mason, I remembered that I could start with one that I am involved with, which is the St Mirren Independent Supporters Association—a not-for-profit community trust, of which I am convener. The trust now owns 28 per cent of the stock of St Mirren Football Club. Working with Gordon Scott, our target is to have a majority share of the club in eight years.

An important debate in our community, and in our national sport in general, is about who ends up owning football clubs, at the end of the day. We were a not-for-profit trust negotiating with an organisation that was full of business people who thought purely on a business basis. That was difficult for us to overcome. Now, luckily, 1,300 St Mirren supporters and Paisley buddies put in between £12 and £25 a month and have all bought into that long-term goal.

In football, managers may come and go—they have been coming and going at St Mirren park quite a lot recently—and star players may shine brightly for a while, but it is the fans and the community at a club that will always be with the team. In the same way that there is no right or wrong way to ensure fan ownership of Scotland's football teams, there is no right or wrong way for a social enterprise to go forward, as long as it sticks by its ideals and what it wants to achieve. It is an idea—and an ideal—whose time has come.

Another example from my constituency is the massive cathedral-like Thomas Coats memorial Baptist church, which was built by the Coatses, who were a cotton-baron family. The church is now closed because churchgoers could no longer sustain a building of that size. A trust is being set up, of which I have said I will be a member, in order to secure a sustainable future for the building. That is how social enterprises make a difference in our communities.

The Star Project in Paisley is an award-winning organisation that has been delivering sustainable and positive social outcomes since opening its doors in 1999. It employs a person-centred approach to deliver group and individual support plans, and it works constantly with local and national strategies to build safer, more connected and more resilient families and communities. I visited the Star Project last year, spoke to constituents and saw for myself what the programme does and what it means to people. Organisations such as it go a long way towards tackling inequalities by helping people with everything from battling loneliness to applying for benefits. Above all, the Star Project equips people with the connections and confidence to thrive, which in turn encourages growth throughout the community.

With that in mind, it is clear that social enterprises can directly help to address the underlying causes of poverty and inequality in our communities, and ensure that everyone can live in a fairer, healthier and happier country in which all people are valued and able to achieve their potential.

Forty-five per cent of social enterprises have stated that one of their main objectives is to create employment opportunities by helping to unlock the full potential of people who are furthest from the labour market. Social enterprises not only connect people with their communities but help to harness productive capacity and, therefore, to strengthen long-term economic performance.

Another excellent example of a social enterprise in my constituency is the Loud 'n' Proud organisation, which is run by Tommy McGrory. Loud 'n' Proud has been reigniting Paisley's passion for music for more than 10 years and, during that time, it has helped countless students to access and achieve success in the music industry, while making a huge contribution to the regeneration of Paisley as a whole. Its main goal is to educate, train and prepare students for a career in either music or music technology and, at the same time, to give others the ability simply to play and enjoy music.

It has been proved time and again how successful music is at connecting people from the far corners of our communities but, too often, young people face barriers and roadblocks to their dreams and aspirations. Loud 'n' Proud has been knocking down those barriers since it began, and the results have been tenfold. Although enjoyment is at the heart of what Loud 'n' Proud does, Tommy McGrory focuses equally on the knowledge and self-discipline that he can pass on to his young students and which are needed for excellence in the music business. Timekeeping, preparation, relying on others, being relied on and working as a team are all valuable skills in that industry.

Social enterprise is the way forward. We must do all that we can to remain at the forefront of global development in that area and to remain committed to funding and supporting local organisations. They can really change people's lives, and reshape and regenerate whole communities in the process.

16:32

Jeremy Balfour (Lothian) (Con): Like other members, I welcome this debate and I welcome the forum delegates to Edinburgh.

As we have heard, social enterprise is good for the Scottish economy. It makes a £2 billion contribution to it, which we should welcome and appreciate, yet social enterprises often have their roots in small projects. Forty-three per cent of social enterprises have an income of less than $\pounds 50,000$, the sector employs 40,000 full-time equivalent staff across the whole country and, as we have heard, 61 per cent of social enterprises are run by women, which is a far higher percentage than in any other sector.

As we heard from previous speakers, as well as the fact that a high proportion of social enterprises are run by women, many of them try to engage with those who are seeking to get back into employment and are struggling to do that, including older people, disabled people and people from ethnic minorities and other categories in our society. We should welcome and encourage that. There is a challenge in doing it. Over the past couple of hours, we have heard heart-warming stories about good social enterprises in different communities and how they have been successful, attracted employment and gone from strength to strength.

Being the final speaker in the open debate, may I be Mr Pessimistic? The one social enterprise that I was involved in—through a charity that I used to be involved in—went belly up after six months. The reason was not that it did not have a good model or good leadership—obviously, because I was part of it. The problem was that there was a tension between attracting into employment people who are difficult to place and, at the same time, making enough money to keep the social enterprise going.

Willie Rennie made the helpful observation that there are lots of social enterprises that are actually or nearly running at a loss. There is a challenge for those who seek to set up social enterprises. We want to encourage into the workplace people who have not had that opportunity through the public or private sectors, but how do we get those people into employment and give them training while, at the same time, having a model that will work and be sustainable?

We have heard today about many social enterprises that have had success. I hope that, this week in Edinburgh, we will hear of good practice and schemes that have worked, so that people can learn from that, see where the mistakes have been made and then move on from them.

As has been mentioned, there is a role for the Governments both here in Scotland and at Westminster and for our local authorities. I am delighted that we have the city region deal for Edinburgh and the south-east of Scotland, which is going to bring millions of pounds into the economy. We are going to see innovation hubs start in some of our universities and we are going

to see the arts in Edinburgh benefit because of local and national Government coming together.

However, there needs to be a role for social enterprise in all of that. We need to make sure that we do not leave behind the more difficult communities in Lothian, the Borders and Fife. I think that social enterprise can be used, with Government and local authority targeted funding, to help those who are struggling to get into employment—particularly those with disabilities—and give them experience so that they can learn from it

This has been a helpful debate and an encouraging one, but there are lessons to learn and challenges ahead. I, too, wish well all those who are meeting in the capital this week. I hope that the lessons that they learn will be fed down to all organisations across Scotland.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I am pleased that all members who spoke in the debate are present for the closing speeches, apart from those who requested and have been granted leave not to be in the chamber. That is a big plus for today. It has made my day.

We move on to the closing speeches, and I call Alex Rowley to close for Labour. You have six minutes, Mr Rowley.

16:38

Alex Rowley (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab): I am pleased to close for Labour. I, too, extend a welcome to the Social Enterprise World Forum as it comes to Scotland this year. I also wish the cabinet secretary the very best in her new role.

As James Kelly said, Scotland is an excellent choice to host the gathering, as we have an array of world-class social enterprises operating throughout the country, including in my home area of Fife. Fife Social Enterprise Network was the first local social enterprise network to start up. The first meeting took place in 2004 at Furniture Plus in Dysart, and the network continues to hold regular meetings. More than 160 social enterprises are in operation across Fife and they have a total income in excess of £26 million. In Clackmannanshire and Stirling and across Mid Scotland and Fife, social enterprises play an important role in our daily life. Willie Rennie and Bruce Crawford highlighted some of them.

As the motion notes and the cabinet secretary said, the inaugural social enterprise world forum event took place in Edinburgh 10 years ago, so it is only fitting that the 10th anniversary of the event, which brings together delegates from all over the world, returns it to Scotland.

Social Enterprise Scotland stated:

"The purpose of the World Forum is for social enterprise leaders, practitioners and supporters from all over the world to come together to share knowledge, build networks and discuss practical ways to build a more sustainable economy."

The event comes at a time when more people are realising that the current way in which our economy and society work is not fair and is not set up to deliver in the interests of the many. Therefore, we should certainly welcome and celebrate the gathering and encourage more such gatherings, especially given that social enterprises play such a vital role in our communities and significantly contribute to our economy as a whole.

I want to add to what Monica Lennon said and focus on the social good of many local social enterprises that work at the community level to provide many high-quality social services, from care for the elderly and transport to supporting people into employment. They are often the last line of defence against deep-rooted poverty and deprivation, which exist in far too many communities across Scotland. In focusing on that area of work, I have to say that many organisations have felt the impact of failed austerity and cuts to public services, and there has been a missed opportunity to grow the sector. John Mason touched on that.

Community planning partnerships were meant to work in such a way that they brought together all the key players and focused all the resources on achieving the outcomes that the partnerships set. Much more needs to be done to ensure that social enterprises are able to be effective and reach into communities, so that the strategic policy objectives of Government are achieved.

On top of their economic and social importance, many social enterprises are leading the way in creating progressive, fair and equal workplaces of the kind that we need to see more of in Scotland. Patrick Harvie highlighted that. Seventy per cent of Scotland's social enterprises are led by and accountable to people in their local communities, 64 per cent are led by women, and 72 per cent pay all employees the real living wage. They also have a smaller wage gap between the highest and the lowest paid in their organisations. Many of our large organisations in the private and public sectors could learn from that.

At times, it can be difficult to define what a social enterprise is, but, at its core, it is a more ethical, dynamic and independent way to do business. As Daniel Johnson pointed out, a social enterprise is a business with social objectives whose surpluses are reinvested for those purposes either in the business or in the community, rather than one that is driven to maximise returns for shareholders or owners. A number of members have highlighted that such

organisations have an important role to play, especially in the current climate of ideologically driven austerity. It is fortunate that there are organisations out there that are trying their best to mitigate some of the worst effects of the rise in austerity that we have seen over the past few years.

Dean Lockhart talked about the need for more investment, but that contradicts his and the Scottish Tories' support for austerity. The Tory party's zealous austerity agenda, which continues to chip away at our public services and their ability to invest in areas such as social enterprise, needs a rethink.

Tom Arthur said that he did not want to make this about politics. However, when we are debating the importance of social enterprise, it is crucial to highlight the negative impact of failed Tory austerity, as we will not create a better society while promoting inequality through austerity and we will not grow a dynamic, community-led social enterprise approach against a backdrop of deep cuts.

All members have recognised the massive potential of growing the social enterprise sector of our economy. We need to follow that up with resources and investment, and that means an end to austerity and recognition of the need for investment in growth right across Scotland.

16:44

Michelle Ballantyne (South Scotland) (Con): I join my colleagues from across the chamber in welcoming the Social Enterprise World Forum back to Scotland, and congratulate all those involved in organising and delivering the event.

As we have heard, the forum enables social enterprises from across the world to share wisdom, build networks and explore how to create a more sustainable future. There is no doubt that the opportunity to share stories of success and failure can be one of the most important things in progressing a business. Discussing the challenges that it has faced, and the support and the skills that might have moved it forward, or did move it forward, are essential for its learning.

Today's debate has given us the opportunity to share our own stories of the fantastic social enterprises around Scotland, from Bruce Crawford's detailed description of Callander, which is Scotland's first social enterprise town, to Gordon Lindhurst's quoting of Jonny Kinross from the Grassmarket Community Project.

I had the privilege of working with Jonny 10 years ago when I was involved in setting up and running a social enterprise and a charity. I know that his commitment to social enterprise is second

to none. Therefore, his words about the impact that social enterprises have not only on the community to which they deliver but on the people who work for them sit comfortably with me. He is absolutely right. It is incredibly meaningful to people when they can get involved.

As Monica Lennon highlighted, social enterprise came about as a recognition that there were organisations that used the power of business to bring about social and environmental change. She also highlighted how social enterprises have a strong history of responding to social challenges. That is exactly what they have been doing.

Over the past 20 or 30 years, we have recognised the massive growth of organisations that identify as social enterprises. I very much welcomed hearing from the cabinet secretary about the support that the Scottish Government currently gives and intends to give to social enterprise. The debate is not just about whether we need them-and I am sad about the move to politicise the debate. It is also about whether we want them and, if we want them, how we want to organise and control them, whether they need to be regulated and how much support they need. We have seen in their operation the potential to create an increased sense of community belonging, as well as the provision of better access to services for those who are often marginalised in their community.

John Mason spoke very eloquently about the different models of organisations that have been and are around. Whether they are co-ops, social enterprises or extremely well-run businesses, they all play their part in supporting community benefit. He talked about the challenge of creating a better community and the need to upstream money for preventative work, which is very difficult to do. Social enterprises offer us a real opportunity to that move, which the Scottish Government originally spoke about 10 years ago—I know that, because I gave evidence to it on the topic-and which most of us across the chamber want to see. If we can upstream the funding and the operations that come with a mixed economy, that would be something that all parties could celebrate.

Social enterprises are a vital part of democracy, and Governments around the globe are coming to recognise their value. It is good to see Scotland at the forefront of their development. I think that we can, as the cabinet secretary said, be rightly pleased that we have a leading place in the development of social enterprises. However, they are businesses and they require the skills and the approaches that will ensure their sustainability. If we do not recognise that, we will get increased failure, with people coming in thinking that it is an easy way to operate and earn a living. It is not; it is

hard. I know, because I have done it and I am still doing it.

As Willie Rennie identified, 41 per cent of social enterprises returned a loss in the past year. If sustainability is our watchword, that should raise alarm bells.

Quite a lot of members talked about the definition of "social enterprise". That is important, but I agree with Daniel Johnson and other members who said that we should be careful in defining what a social enterprise is, because good businesses contribute to our social welfare and we do not want to constrain entrepreneurs and opportunity by creating too strict a process in that regard.

Having said that, I think that we need be able to identify social enterprises well enough to be able to ensure that they are sustainable, as a number of members said. Gordon Lindhurst talked about the need for a flexible and holistic Scottish model of impact measurement. We absolutely should think about that, because such a model would help us to understand what is happening, so that we can direct our support appropriately and ensure that enterprises are sustainable.

Each and every one of us can make a contribution. I echo Dean Lockhart, who said that the Scottish Government must take seriously its role to provide a clear and structured framework for social enterprise, to give more certainty to the sector. Social enterprises need business support, and we must get that to them.

I know that the Presiding Officer is going to ask me to close, so I will quickly mention a couple of enterprises in my area, with which I was very impressed when I visited them. You Can Cook in Peeblesshire has established an official partnership with the University of Edinburgh business school to promote an eat-healthy, livehealthy lifestyle and to promote social enterprise to students and graduates, with the aim of inspiring more students to get involved with social enterprise projects. That is the kind of thing that we need to look for.

As Jamie Halcro Johnston said, in many cases local people are able to see the benefits of well-run social enterprises quickly, as they are reinvested back into community projects.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: And now you must conclude.

Michelle Ballantyne: I thank everyone who is involved in the forum. We will support the Government motion, but I am sad to say that we will not support Labour's amendment, because Labour has politicised the language. Social enterprise is not a political issue; it is a

community-benefit issue, in which we are all involved.

16:52

Aileen Campbell: It has been a pleasure to take part in today's debate and to hear members describe with pride the social enterprises in their constituencies and regions. Their stories have given a flavour of the variety and scale of the work that is going on in villages, towns and cities the length and breadth of Scotland. I look forward to going to Callander this evening with Bruce Crawford.

Daniel Johnson said that his constituency is the home of social enterprise. I gently remind him that I have New Lanark in my constituency—so I claim that one.

Common to all the stories that we have heard is that Scotland's social entrepreneurs are driven by a passion to improve the communities in which they live. What is also strong is the—largely—united front of the Scotlish Parliament today, as all parties have come together to celebrate the achievements of Scotland's social enterprises and the global lead that Scotland is taking.

That positivity is important, as Scotland welcomes the world to the social enterprise world forum. Global representatives of the Social Enterprise Academy are here in the chamber today, and I understand that pupils from Broughton high school visited Parliament today. It is important that our visitors hear that it is not just this Government that endeavours to support social enterprises. There is a collective endeavour that is not owned by one political party. There is a united Scottish approach that is not complacent and which seeks to grow and to transform the approach that other businesses take, as, I think, Daniel Johnson said.

Members made constructive, insightful and considered speeches, in which they sought not just to congratulate Scotland on what we have achieved but to think about what is next for Scotland and social enterprise. What more can we do, as a society, to rebalance our economy and create the fairness and inclusive growth that we all want? Therefore, although we are in agreement on the issue, the debate has not been without challenge.

It is difficult to single out a particular speech. I valued the words of Patrick Harvie, who took a nostalgic tour of his life growing up with a mother who was very active. I can certainly relate to that. He mentioned Greenlight Recycling; the partnership action for continuing employment team is working there to provide help and support, and can provide more information.

For me, Patrick Harvie summed up social enterprise when he described its valuable resource as being the creativity and talents of people, who are part of an economy that is driven by values. That approach and emphasis were underlined and reiterated by Tom Arthur, James Kelly and Monica Lennon. They show a potentially superior basis for an economy that is motivated by ethical practice and localism.

Given what our communities stand to gain by looking at inclusive economic growth through the prism of social enterprise, it is absolutely right that members ask the Government what more we can do, so I will respond to some of the issues that have been raised. Dean Lockhart mentioned the need to declutter the landscape. We are developing a map of the social enterprise ecosystem in order that we can simplify that landscape. The new south of Scotland enterprise agency is also looking to Highlands and Islands Enterprise as a model approach to supporting social enterprise. There is a knowledge and exchange programme between Scottish Enterprise and Just Enterprise, which is relevant to issues that were raised by other members who contributed to the debate.

Dean Lockhart and Gordon Lindhurst mentioned public procurement issues. We are funding partnership for procurement to provide free tenderwriting support and to encourage that work to ensure that more people can access such opportunities. We can furnish those members with more information on that.

Patrick Harvie and Willie Rennie also spoke about the challenge that many social enterprises face in trying to make ends meet. That point was also made by Jeremy Balfour, to whom I say that he was not being pessimistic; it is an absolutely legitimate point to have made. Just Enterprise gives free advice and has a business recovery service. We stress that any social enterprise that is feeling the pinch should contact it as early as possible. We are always looking to see whether such schemes can be improved and what other support might be offered.

James Kelly and Monica Lennon mentioned cooperatives. The Scottish Government funds Cooperative Development Scotland to promote such models, and I absolutely agree that they should be viewed as part of a wider movement in our attempt to rebalance the economy. When I was growing up, my dad was part of East of Scotland Farmers Ltd, which was a co-operative, so I know how important it is for that part of the world, in Strathmore.

Finally, several members mentioned the matter of a definition. Again, I point to the voluntary code of practice for social enterprises in Scotland as being the benchmark criteria and values for any social enterprise that is establishing itself here.

I want to conclude by bringing together the reasons for our valuing our social enterprises. Alex Rowley rightly spoke passionately about the need to create a fairer economy that benefits us all, inclusively. That is about empowering our communities and recognising that when we allow them the chance to take charge and to reimagine what life could be like, special things happen. Social enterprises probably have a reach that the Scottish Government, local government and our health services just do not have. They are nimble and agile, and they respond to community need, which we need to acknowledge. Alex Rowley was right to bring community planning partnerships into the debate, because we need much greater recognition of what social enterprises can do at that level.

I want to underline that the reason why we are gathered here today is to welcome the world forum: we sincerely want to welcome the world to Scotland. On behalf of us all, I say that we should ensure that the next 10 years of social enterprise development here are equally exciting and help more community organisations across the country to develop the work that they want to do in response to community need, and in the challenges that they face. Together, all our social enterprises bring variety and diversity to our communities. We can all work to support them in creating the fairer and more equal society that we all seek.

Business Motion

Decision Time

16:59

The Presiding Officer (Ken Macintosh): The next item of business is consideration of business motion S5M-13861, in the name of Graeme Dey, on behalf of the Parliamentary Bureau, setting out a revised programme for tomorrow.

Motion moved,

That the Parliament agrees to the following revision to the programme of business for Wednesday 12 September 2018—

delete

2.00 pm Parliamentary Bureau Motions

2.00 pm Portfolio Questions:

Environment, Climate Change and Land

Reform; Rural Economy

and insert

1.30 pm Parliamentary Bureau Motions

1.30 pm Portfolio Questions:

Environment, Climate Change and Land

Reform; Rural Economy

followed by Ministerial Statement: Transvaginal

Mesh—[Graeme Dey.]

Motion agreed to.

17:00

The Presiding Officer (Ken Macintosh): There are three questions to be put as a result of today's business. The first question is, that amendment S5M-13813.1, in the name of Dean Lockhart, which seeks to amend motion S5M-13813, in the name of Aileen Campbell, on the social enterprise world forum 2018, be agreed to.

Amendment agreed to.

The Presiding Officer: The next question is, that amendment S5M-13813.2, in the name of Monica Lennon, which seeks to amend the motion in the name of Aileen Campbell, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP)

Adamson, Clare (Motherwell and Wishaw) (SNP)
Allan, Alasdair (Na h-Eileanan an Iar) (SNP)
Arthur, Tom (Renfrewshire South) (SNP)
Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab)
Baker, Claire (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab)

Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab)

Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP)

Bibby, Neil (West Scotland) (Lab)

Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP)

Campbell, Aileen (Clydesdale) (SNP)

Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP) Cole-Hamilton, Alex (Edinburgh Western) (LD)

Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP) Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP)

Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinrossshire) (SNP)

Denham, Ash (Edinburgh Eastern) (SNP)

Dey, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP) Doris, Bob (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (SNP)

Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP)

Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab)

Ewing, Annabelle (Cowdenbeath) (SNP)
Ewing, Fergus (Inverness and Nairn) (SNP)

Fabiani, Linda (East Kilbride) (SNP)

Fee, Mary (West Scotland) (Lab)

Findlay, Neil (Lothian) (Lab)

Finnie, John (Highlands and Islands) (Green)

FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP)

Forbes, Kate (Skye, Lochaber and Badenoch) (SNP)

Freeman, Jeane (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley) (SNP)

Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP)

Gilruth, Jenny (Mid Fife and Glenrothes) (SNP)

Gougeon, Mairi (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP)

Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and

Lauderdale) (SNP)

Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)

Gray, lain (East Lothian) (Lab)

Greer, Ross (West Scotland) (Green)

Griffin, Mark (Central Scotland) (Lab)

Harper, Emma (South Scotland) (SNP)

Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green)

Haughey, Clare (Rutherglen) (SNP)

Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP)

Hyslop, Fiona (Linlithgow) (SNP)

Johnson, Daniel (Edinburgh Southern) (Lab)

Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green)

Kelly, James (Glasgow) (Lab)

Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP)

Lamont, Johann (Glasgow) (Lab)

Lennon, Monica (Central Scotland) (Lab)

Leonard, Richard (Central Scotland) (Lab)

Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP)

Lyle, Richard (Uddingston and Bellshill) (SNP)

MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP)

MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP)

Macdonald, Lewis (North East Scotland) (Lab)

MacGregor, Fulton (Coatbridge and Chryston) (SNP)

Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP) Mackay, Rona (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (SNP)

Macpherson, Ben (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (SNP)

Maguire, Ruth (Cunninghame South) (SNP)

Martin, Gillian (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP)

Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP)

McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP)

McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD)

McKee, Ivan (Glasgow Provan) (SNP)

McMillan, Stuart (Greenock and Inverclyde) (SNP) McNeill, Pauline (Glasgow) (Lab)

Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP)

Paterson, Gil (Clydebank and Milngavie) (SNP)

Rennie, Willie (North East Fife) (LD)

Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP)

Rowley, Alex (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab)

Rumbles, Mike (North East Scotland) (LD)

Ruskell, Mark (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Green)

Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP)

Sarwar, Anas (Glasgow) (Lab)

Smyth, Colin (South Scotland) (Lab)

Somerville, Shirley-Anne (Dunfermline) (SNP)

Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP)

Stewart, David (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)

Stewart, Kevin (Aberdeen Central) (SNP)

Sturgeon, Nicola (Glasgow Southside) (SNP)

Todd, Maree (Highlands and Islands) (SNP)

Torrance, David (Kirkcaldy) (SNP)

Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine)

White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP)

Wightman, Andy (Lothian) (Green)

Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow Pollok) (SNP)

Against

Balfour, Jeremy (Lothian) (Con)

Ballantyne, Michelle (South Scotland) (Con)

Bowman, Bill (North East Scotland) (Con)

Briggs, Miles (Lothian) (Con)

Burnett, Alexander (Aberdeenshire West) (Con)

Cameron, Donald (Highlands and Islands) (Con)

Carson, Finlay (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con)

Chapman, Peter (North East Scotland) (Con)

Corry, Maurice (West Scotland) (Con)

Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)

Golden, Maurice (West Scotland) (Con)

Greene, Jamie (West Scotland) (Con)

Halcro Johnston, Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con)

Hamilton, Rachael (Ettrick, Roxburgh and Berwickshire) (Con)

Harris, Alison (Central Scotland) (Con)

Kerr, Liam (North East Scotland) (Con)

Lindhurst, Gordon (Lothian) (Con)

Lockhart, Dean (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)

Mason, Tom (North East Scotland) (Con)

Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con)

Mountain, Edward (Highlands and Islands) (Con)

Mundell, Oliver (Dumfriesshire) (Con)

Scott, John (Ayr) (Con)

Simpson, Graham (Central Scotland) (Con)

Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)

Stewart, Alexander (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)

Tomkins, Adam (Glasgow) (Con)

Wells, Annie (Glasgow) (Con)

Whittle, Brian (South Scotland) (Con)

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 88, Against 29, Abstentions 0.

Amendment agreed to.

The Presiding Officer: The final question is, that motion S5M-13813, in the name of Aileen Campbell, on the social enterprise world forum 2018, as amended, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP)

Adamson, Clare (Motherwell and Wishaw) (SNP)

Allan, Alasdair (Na h-Eileanan an Iar) (SNP)

Arthur, Tom (Renfrewshire South) (SNP)

Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab)

Baker, Claire (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab)

Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP)

Bibby, Neil (West Scotland) (Lab)

Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP)

Campbell, Aileen (Clydesdale) (SNP)

Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP)

Cole-Hamilton, Alex (Edinburgh Western) (LD)

Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP)

Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP)

Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinross-

shire) (SNP)

Denham, Ash (Edinburgh Eastern) (SNP)

Dey, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP)

Doris, Bob (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (SNP)

Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP)

Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab)

Ewing, Annabelle (Cowdenbeath) (SNP)

Ewing, Fergus (Inverness and Nairn) (SNP)

Fabiani, Linda (East Kilbride) (SNP)

Fee, Mary (West Scotland) (Lab)

Findlay, Neil (Lothian) (Lab)

Finnie, John (Highlands and Islands) (Green)

FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP)

Forbes, Kate (Skye, Lochaber and Badenoch) (SNP) Freeman, Jeane (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley)

Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP)

Gilruth, Jenny (Mid Fife and Glenrothes) (SNP)

Gougeon, Mairi (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP)

Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP)

Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)

Gray, Iain (East Lothian) (Lab)

Greer, Ross (West Scotland) (Green)

Griffin, Mark (Central Scotland) (Lab)

Harper, Emma (South Scotland) (SNP) Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green)

Haughey, Clare (Rutherglen) (SNP)

Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP)

Hyslop, Fiona (Linlithgow) (SNP)

Johnson, Daniel (Edinburgh Southern) (Lab)

Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green)

Kelly, James (Glasgow) (Lab)

Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP) Lamont, Johann (Glasgow) (Lab) Lennon, Monica (Central Scotland) (Lab) Leonard, Richard (Central Scotland) (Lab) Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP) Lyle, Richard (Uddingston and Bellshill) (SNP) MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP) MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP) Macdonald, Lewis (North East Scotland) (Lab) MacGregor, Fulton (Coatbridge and Chryston) (SNP) Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP) Mackay, Rona (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (SNP) Macpherson, Ben (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (SNP) Maguire, Ruth (Cunninghame South) (SNP) Martin, Gillian (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP) Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP) McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP) McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD) McKee, Ivan (Glasgow Provan) (SNP) McMillan, Stuart (Greenock and Inverclyde) (SNP) McNeill, Pauline (Glasgow) (Lab) Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP) Paterson, Gil (Clydebank and Milngavie) (SNP) Rennie, Willie (North East Fife) (LD) Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP) Rowley, Alex (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Rumbles, Mike (North East Scotland) (LD) Ruskell, Mark (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Green) Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP) Sarwar, Anas (Glasgow) (Lab) Smyth, Colin (South Scotland) (Lab) Somerville, Shirley-Anne (Dunfermline) (SNP) Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP) Stewart, David (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Stewart, Kevin (Aberdeen Central) (SNP) Sturgeon, Nicola (Glasgow Southside) (SNP) Todd, Maree (Highlands and Islands) (SNP)

White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP) Wightman, Andy (Lothian) (Green)

Torrance, David (Kirkcaldy) (SNP)

Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow Pollok) (SNP)

Against

Balfour, Jeremy (Lothian) (Con) Ballantyne, Michelle (South Scotland) (Con) Bowman, Bill (North East Scotland) (Con) Briggs, Miles (Lothian) (Con) Burnett, Alexander (Aberdeenshire West) (Con) Cameron, Donald (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Carson, Finlay (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con) Chapman, Peter (North East Scotland) (Con) Corry, Maurice (West Scotland) (Con) Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Golden, Maurice (West Scotland) (Con) Greene, Jamie (West Scotland) (Con) Halcro Johnston, Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Hamilton, Rachael (Ettrick, Roxburgh and Berwickshire) (Con) Harris, Alison (Central Scotland) (Con) Kerr, Liam (North East Scotland) (Con) Lindhurst, Gordon (Lothian) (Con)

Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine)

Lockhart, Dean (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Mason, Tom (North East Scotland) (Con)

Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con)

Mountain, Edward (Highlands and Islands) (Con)

Mundell, Oliver (Dumfriesshire) (Con)

Scott, John (Ayr) (Con)

Simpson, Graham (Central Scotland) (Con)

Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)

Stewart, Alexander (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)

Tomkins, Adam (Glasgow) (Con) Wells, Annie (Glasgow) (Con) Whittle, Brian (South Scotland) (Con)

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 88, Against 29, Abstentions 0.

Motion, as amended, agreed to,

That the Parliament joins Scotland's social enterprise community to welcome the Social Enterprise World Forum 2018 taking place on 12 to 14 September 2018 at the Edinburgh International Conference Centre; congratulates the event's organiser, CEIS, and all those involved in planning, delivering and supporting this three-day event, which will attract more than 1,400 delegates from across the world; recognises that this successful international event has its roots in Scotland with the inaugural event taking place in Edinburgh in 2008 with support from the Scottish Government and its enterprise agencies; notes the excellent partnership working across the public and third sectors over the last 10 years, which has established Scotland's world-leading reputation for social enterprise; continues to support the ambitions of the Scottish Government and the social enterprise community as set out in Scotland's Social Enterprise Strategy 2016-26 and accompanying action plan, Building A Sustainable Social Enterprise Sector In Scotland 2017-20; looks forward to 2019, when the Scottish Government will again work collaboratively with the sector to conduct the third national census of social enterprise in Scotland to ensure that it continues to understand how social enterprise is growing, where further support is needed, and what evidence there is to demonstrate the impact of social enterprise on reducing inequality in Scotland; acknowledges the recommendations of the Economy, Jobs and Fair Work committee in its report, Scotland's Economic Performance (SP Paper 359), in relation to the need to promote a better understanding of social enterprise in Scotland; recognises the need to ensure that social enterprises are better able to access financial and other support from government agencies, and notes that, in the current climate of austerity, social enterprises have taken on an even more significant role, by filling gaps left by cuts to the welfare system and pressure on public services.

The Ecology Centre (Kinghorn)

The Deputy Presiding Officer (Linda Fabiani): The final item of business is a members' business debate on motion S5M-10449, in the name of Claire Baker, on the Ecology Centre in Kinghorn's 20th anniversary. The debate will be concluded without any question being put.

Motion debated,

That the Parliament congratulates everyone at the Ecology Centre, which is in Kinghorn, Fife, on its 20th anniversary; understands that it was established by people from the area and residents of Craigencalt Farm for the purpose of developing and managing the Kinghorn Loch site for community use; notes that, with the help of the Scottish Land Fund, the charity purchased land at the east end of the loch and that the site has been continually being developed by staff and volunteers to maintain its rich biodiversity and to help it deliver its community growing projects, environmental education and outdoor volunteering opportunities; believes that the centre also provides employment training opportunities through Our Bright Future and Community Jobs Scotland; recognises what it sees as the significance of its environmental and outdoor education programme with the area's schools with which emphasis is placed on the importance of how to care for the environment and to maintain the positive preservation of eco-systems for the benefit of wildlife and future generations; commends the hard work of the centre's many valued volunteers and its staff, and extends its very best wishes for the anniversary celebrations and for the centre's future.

17:04

Claire Baker (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab): I am delighted to be opening this evening's debate on the 20th anniversary of the fantastic Ecology Centre at Kinghorn Loch. I welcome volunteers and staff from the Ecology Centre to the gallery. I know that they have been working hard as well as having fun celebrating this year's landmark birthday, and I hope that they enjoy the debate, which recognises the importance of their contribution.

I would also like to thank MSPs from across the chamber for supporting my motion and today's debate. I know that many of them will have visited the Ecology Centre and have a high regard for it, although some members are unable to take part in the debate this evening.

I welcome Mairi Gougeon to her new role as Minister for Rural Affairs and the Natural Environment, and I wish her well in the challenges ahead. I know that her predecessor, Roseanna Cunningham, visited the Ecology Centre earlier this year, and I invite the new minister to visit. I am sure that after the debate she will be keen to visit and to see for herself all the work that the Ecology Centre does.

The Ecology Centre has always been rooted in the local community. More than 20 years ago, a group from the local community and Craigencalt farm got together with the intention of developing and managing Kinghorn Loch for the local community. Twenty years later, the Ecology Centre has been established and provides many benefits for the environment, our biodiversity and the local community.

In many ways, the Ecology Centre reflects the development over recent years of our growing interest in environmental learning, community engagement and land ownership management. As a charitable organisation, the centre has developed and expanded, it continued to be responsive to developing needs and changing circumstances, and now it has lots of innovative and exciting projects that run alongside the delivery of the centre's core mission. A key point for the Ecology Centre came with the successful award of funds from the Scottish land fund, which enabled the Ecology Centre's recent move to the east side of Kinghorn Loch, where the new centre and grounds are situated.

I would like to thank Kinghorn Community Land Association for its briefing for the debate and to recognise its role in supporting the successful move and the complementary work that it does with the Ecology Centre.

The Ecology Centre's new facilities are fabulous and include a modern kitchen and a bright and airy room that can be used for community lunches that use produce that is grown on site, classes and learning opportunities and even wedding receptions. The fact that the Ecology Centre is located on community-owned land has opened up so much potential. It has led the number of volunteers who work on the site to expand, as well as providing employment training opportunities through the our bright future partnership and community jobs Scotland.

The volunteers are important to the operation of the Ecology Centre through their conservation work, their contribution to growing food and their work in the kitchen and the tool shed. The centre has fantastic reuse and recycle projects, and it makes great use of its volunteers' skills and expertise.

The tool shed is a fantastic initiative that is growing from strength to strength. It is part of the men's shed initiative and offers opportunities to share interests, be social and contribute to the community. Three refurbishing workshops are held each week in which donated and discarded tools are refurbished and can then be hired by the local community, which cuts down on the often unnecessary purchase of tools that can sit unused in the shed for months on end. Full training and support is given to volunteers, as well as opportunities to enhance employability and life skills.

There is also a weekly dementia-friendly tool shed. It is increasingly recognised that people with early stage dementia need greater inclusion in our society through activities that recognise the abilities that they possess and the contribution that they can make.

The part of the tool shed that I love is the refurbishing of old Singer sewing machines. Many of us have inherited such machines, but they might not work or might no longer be needed. The tool shed will refurbish them and often sends them to Malawi to support start-up businesses, and that supports women's empowerment and financial security, in particular. The link with international development demonstrates the breadth of projects that the Ecology Centre has been involved in.

The volunteers are vital to the running of the site and, although they often work hard, there is always the sense of a social gathering, with lunch, tea and coffee and plenty of biscuits to keep the energy levels up.

The Ecology Centre plays an important role in the development of environmental education and outdoor learning. There are growing partnerships with Fife schools—Burntisland primary school, Pathhead primary school, Pitcoudie primary school and Warout primary school have all visited recently—that focus on raising attainment through outdoor learning.

The site is fully accessible to the public and provides an attractive community landscape for walking, exploring and relaxing. It is a haven for wildlife and a well-managed area of biodiversity.

Alongside its regular activities, the centre runs a number of courses and activities throughout the year. Saturday was the Ecology Centre's 20th summer festival, and it was a fantastic day for everyone who went along. The sun was shining, which was a bonus, and there was live music, games, stalls, cake and lots of positive conversations about how we can improve and enjoy our local environment.

In recognition of the significance of 2018 and the achievements of The Ecology Centre over that time, there has been a focus on how the centre will grow in the future and how it will translate its inspiring message for a new generation. Back in 1998, environmental issues were still a bit niche and knowledge about the effects of climate change was limited. We have seen a lot of progress since then, although there is still much to do if we are to show responsibility for future generations and for countries around the globe that are particularly vulnerable to the effects of climate change. The Scottish Government intends to bring forward a Climate Change (Emissions Reduction Targets) (Scotland) Bill and the next

few months will generate debate about what more Scotland can do.

The issue is also about what we do as individuals and as communities to reduce our environmental footprints. The Ecology Centre has been running a follow our footsteps campaign to encourage behavioural change and encourage people to stop to think, "Do I need to drive, when I can walk or take public transport?", "Do I need to buy, when I can hire or reuse?" or "Do I need to tumble dry when the wind is blowing?"

I wanted to hold this debate because the Ecology Centre is a great example of a community-driven project with environmental objectives right at the heart of its work, which communicates and engages with local people of all ages and involves them in making positive change in their community, in Fife and in the wider world. I wish them well in the years ahead and I am pleased to have held this evening's debate so that we can all recognise their achievements.

17:11

David Torrance (Kirkcaldy) (SNP): I thank Claire Baker for bringing the motion to Parliament and raising awareness of the invaluable contribution that the Ecology Centre in Kinghorn, Fife, makes to our local community. I welcome members of the centre to Parliament.

It is a great pleasure to pay tribute to the centre, which, over its 20 years, has become a pillar of the Kinghorn community in my constituency. I know the area well; long before the centre was there, I trained three times a week at the canoe club. At that time, Kinghorn Loch was in an extremely polluted state due to red mud, a waste product from the nearby Alcan site composed of iron oxide that seeped into the loch during heavy rain. The loch was effectively dead and not well used by the local community. All the fish and plant life had died and only algae—and canoeists such as myself—thrived.

I remember the humble beginnings of the centre, which operated for 15 years from buildings on the nearby Craigencalt farm. Its acquisition of five acres of land on the eastern shore of Kinghorn Loch and construction of a new purpose-built centre is testament to the conviction and passion of the group and was a remarkable achievement.

The Kinghorn Loch users group that formed in the 1990s was a collection of organisations including Kinghorn community council, the Scottish Environment Protection Agency, Fife Council and local clubs, which all worked together to ensure the recovery of the loch. If we fast forward to the present day, the loch is a thriving hub of activity that is used by the local and wider

community, with an abundance of wildlife and plant life following tireless work.

The Ecology Centre played a vital part in that transformation and is a prime example of a centre that is founded by local people for the benefit of local people and their local environment. It has created local volunteering opportunities and jobs, which contribute to the local economy; it maintains, enhances and improves the local environment; and, perhaps most important, it brings the local community together. Cumulatively, those activities are nothing short of admirable.

During a recent visit, I was particularly impressed by the ingenious upcycling ideas; my personal favourite was the refurbishment of shipping containers into workshops. The centre has been invaluable in making environmental responsibility both understandable and accessible to all the local community, serving as a centre for schools to use for outdoor activity learning, hosting multitudes of family-friendly events to encourage families to make the most of the environment that surrounds them and providing space for volunteers to experience growing food on adopted patches of land to familiarise themselves with conservation work and its associated practices or even to cook lunch for the centre's volunteers and staff.

A unique resource that the centre provides is the tool library, where tools that have been donated, refurbished or saved from landfill can be borrowed by members of the local community, much like a book from the local library. Furthermore, once a week the centre hosts a dementia-friendly tool shed, where people who suffer from dementia or memory loss can use the tools in a safe and calm environment—that is another example of how the centre promotes the preservation not only of the environment but of the local community and its members. The centre is a hub for many activities and workshops, including flower arranging, tiered planting and an eco-adventures holiday club for young people.

As I mentioned previously, the centre is just an amazing asset for the local environment; it is a community hub for local people that has been made and is maintained by local people. That is what makes the Ecology Centre on Kinghorn Loch so special. It is an integral part of a jigsaw that has ensured the sustainability of the area and the increased engagement of the wider community.

I have seen the Ecology Centre go from strength to strength during the past 20 years. Once again, I congratulate it on reaching this milestone and wish it all the very best for the future.

17:15

Alexander Stewart (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con): I am delighted to have the opportunity to speak in this afternoon's debate, and I pay tribute to and congratulate Claire Baker on bringing the debate to the chamber. I also welcome the individuals in the gallery.

The Ecology Centre originally came into being through an advisory group that was set up by people from the local community. As we have heard, its 20th anniversary, on which it celebrated its success, has passed. The events that take place at the centre give individuals the opportunity to receive training and education, and people can also use the facilities to celebrate their success from time to time.

Situated in the hills overlooking Kinghorn Loch, the centre was formally established as a non-profit-making charity in August 1998. The purpose of the charity was originally to develop and manage Kinghorn Loch as a site for the community to use. In 2006, the decision was made to change the name of the charity to reflect its progress. The charity purchased the land at the east of Kinghorn Loch and it now houses the new centre and its grounds.

The grounds are being developed by staff and volunteers to be used for future growing projects, environmental education visits and outdoor volunteer days. Ultimately, the centre exists for biodiversity and to act as a haven for wildlife. All the things that happen at the facility engage with the community, and individuals and organisations have benefited from it.

As the charity grew, the staff ensured the development of the centre. Today, an army of volunteers attend regularly and help with many of the various tasks. Those volunteers are the life blood of the organisation. They give of their time and talent to support the centre and ensure that it goes from strength to strength. I am encouraged to hear that the centre employs 11 members of staff. They are given training and they accommodate school and work placements. Once again, they are working hand in hand with the community, giving youngsters and students the opportunity to engage with and experience the centre.

Demand for educational visits has grown and, each year, the centre helps hundreds of children to understand the importance of caring for our environment. That is an important part of our curriculum and individuals can gain from that.

An example of that is the mini growers club, which is a superb initiative that gives toddlers and pre-school children the chance to get involved in gardening, explore nature, and enjoy various natural craft skills, which are important to a child's

development before they even get to primary school.

The charity relies heavily on its wonderful volunteers and it holds many little events, but I want to talk about the tool shed workshop that is held every week. As many know, I am heavily involved with individuals who might have had a stroke or brain injury, and those who come to the centre who have memory loss or are starting dementia are targeted as people who can benefit from the sessions that it holds during the week.

I was most encouraged to read a testimony from one of the volunteers, who said that he wished he had the opportunity to go to the centre every day, because it gives him the chance to get up and do something that he enjoys. His wife said that she looks forward to it too, because it gives her the chance to get some much-needed support for herself. While her husband is at the centre, she knows that he is being looked after securely.

I am delighted that the organisation exists in the kingdom of Fife and I hope that people have similar ambitions across the area, because other locations have the chance to develop in a similar way. Success breeds success. I congratulate all who are involved. The centre can be rightly proud of its achievements.

17:19

Alex Rowley (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab): I congratulate my colleague Claire Baker on securing this debate in recognition of the great work of the Ecology Centre in Kinghorn. I also congratulate the Ecology Centre as it celebrates its 20th anniversary; it is a great achievement, as there have been many challenges along the way, as, I am sure, those from the Ecology Centre would testify. However, those involved over the years have remained focused and vigilant about what they want to achieve. We only have to look at the centre's website or Facebook page to see the wealth of activity that it is promoting and delivering at Kinghorn Loch.

Visiting the Ecology Centre is a great day out and one that I would recommend. I was delighted to see that it has launched a project called follow our footsteps, in celebration of its 20th year, as it embarks on a journey to do its part in the battle against climate change and to lower our carbon footprint.

The Ecology Centre points out that when it first started out, climate change was a bit of a niche topic. It says that it has come a long way since then—it certainly has. The centre reports that it has been inspired recently by the young people who it works with and their passion and determination to find solutions to the environmental challenges that we face as a

country and across the globe. I think that we can all be inspired by the work of the Ecology Centre, particularly its work with young people but its work more generally as well.

I want to focus on the work that the centre does to raise awareness of the many environmental issues and challenges that we face, which are faced by every country across the world. Such work is ground breaking, as it reaches out into communities across Fife and further afield.

Climate change poses one of the greatest threats to future generations and I am delighted that, through its follow our footsteps project, the centre will cover new topics every month highlighting its impact on climate change. It will share that with the wider community on its Facebook page and website and explain how it is getting involved and what other local organisations are doing, and it will offer top tips. We need that kind of community action to build a mass movement against the causes of climate change. We need to not act ourselves but build the case in our country and across the globe for more Government action on climate change.

They say that from little acorns grow mighty oaks, and that is why organisations such as the Ecology Centre should be seen as key partners. We had a debate in Parliament earlier today on social enterprises and their role in Scotland. This is one social enterprise that has set out a clear path and agenda and deserves the support of Government at every level.

Whether it is supporting volunteering and volunteers, working with families, children and schools or supporting business opportunities and raising awareness of environmental issues, the centre is a massive success story that should be celebrated. I say, "Well done on 20 years and here's to a good future."

17:22

Finlay Carson (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con): Having recently been appointed as the Scottish Conservative spokesman on the natural environment, I am pleased to have this early opportunity in my role to speak in this debate. I thank Claire Baker for bringing the debate to the chamber.

As a former farmer, the natural environment is a subject that I have long felt passionate about, both in my time in politics and in my time growing up and working in what I consider to be Scotland's most beautiful constituency—I am quite sure that the minister will have something to say about that.

Although I am a member who does not represent the area in question in tonight's debate, I wish to echo the thoughts of others and praise all

those associated with the Ecology Centre in Kinghorn for their tireless work over the past 20 years to truly serve the community.

While looking into the work of the Ecology Centre, I was struck by the following sentence on its website that wonderfully sums up its mission:

"We inspire positive change through directly connecting people and the natural environment for the benefit of both."

The centre truly has community at the heart of its activities, giving people opportunities to work in and to learn about the natural environment. With our ever-more rapidly changing world, it is important that our future generations learn about the environment and where better to do that but in the countryside on their own doorstep?

The Ecology Centre brings communities together and helps to develop confidence and skills that I am sure would not have been so easily accessed locally if the Ecology Centre had not flourished over the past 20 years, and it is a real testament to the dedicated volunteers and supporters that that has been the case.

Members will be aware that, as the member for Galloway and West Dumfries, I have long campaigned for the region to be designated as Scotland's next national park. It would be remiss of me not to mention the fine work on that matter that my predecessor, Sir Alex Fergusson, carried out. A national park would be a fitting legacy for our distinguished former Presiding Officer.

Of course, a designated national park would be on a totally different scale from that of the Ecology Centre, but lessons can definitely be learned from the success of the centre over the past two decades. If a national park is to become a reality in Galloway, it will need the support of the community right from the start, and the association that is behind the bid has been working across the region engaging with community groups, which is a vital step in pressing Government for action. From speaking to locals, I do not think that getting community backing will be an issue. The Ecology Centre has shown that, if an organisation involves a community while developing a project, people will get behind the project and encourage others to join in.

The Ecology Centre offers apprenticeships, which help young folk to gain invaluable practical knowledge through the course and from the wider working environment around them. Equally, Galloway's environment has much to offer locals and visitors alike. I live in the heart of the constituency, and I regularly explore our wonderful natural environment and marvel at the rural environment that I live in.

I highlight the Ecology Centre's work to positively encourage good conservation practice,

which is another trait that would be in line with practices in a national park. Protected areas can help some of our most important and endangered species but, at the same time, and vitally, such areas can encourage sustainable economic growth. It is heartening to see the Ecology Centre encouraging and continuing to take forward good conservation practices; we should all think about those when it comes to protecting our wildlife.

On Saturday, the centre enjoyed a day of celebration to welcome its 20th anniversary, with fun events for all the family. As the centre has community at its heart, I am sure that there will be plenty more birthdays to come, and I hope that my region will soon join the centre in planning similar celebrations.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: The connection to the motion was somewhat tenuous at times, Mr Carson.

17:27

The Minister for Rural Affairs and the Natural Environment (Mairi Gougeon): It is an absolute pleasure to respond to the debate, which is my first members' business debate as a minister. I thank Claire Baker for bringing the motion to the chamber for debate. It has been fantastic to hear about the impact of the Ecology Centre and its work, and I echo Finlay Carson's sentiments in that respect.

I would absolutely love to take up Claire Baker's invitation to visit the centre. When I was looking into the background and the centre's work, it already sounded like a fantastic place that I really had to visit, so I am keen to make that happen. Claire Baker said the magic words when she mentioned

"tea and coffee and plenty of biscuits".

As a member of the Culture, Tourism, Europe and External Relations Committee, I sat next to Claire, so I know that we both very much enjoy that, although some of us definitely more so than others—and I am not looking at anyone in particular when I say that.

It was fascinating to hear from David Torrance, who is the constituency member, about the background, what the area was like previously and the massive changes as a result of the Ecology Centre's work. The word "local" came through a lot in his speech. He talked about the centre being for the local people and about the local environment, the local community, local jobs and all the opportunities that those offer. Of course, that work helps with the sustainability of the wider area. The Ecology Centre is a real community hub, and it is fantastic to hear about its work.

Throughout the debate, we have heard about the centre's impressive work, and none of that would have happened if it had not been for the efforts of the local community and the residents of Craigencalt farm in creating the centre at Kinghorn in Fife. As we have heard, the Ecology Centre is an inclusive community-led charity that inspires

"positive change through directly connecting people and the natural environment".

I am glad that the Scottish Government has had some role in supporting the centre. As Claire Baker mentioned, in January 2014, the Scottish land fund approved a grant of £54,901 to support further development work. With that help, the Ecology Centre was able to purchase the land at the east end of Kinghorn Loch, on which now sits the new centre and grounds. It really is fantastic that we can recognise and celebrate the Ecology Centre's 20th anniversary here tonight in the Scottish Parliament, because it is a true success story.

The Kinghorn Loch site has been continuously improved and developed by staff and volunteers over the past 20 years; we heard a lot about that from David Torrance. It continues to develop, improving biodiversity and delivering community horticulture projects, environmental education and outdoor volunteering projects. I was interested to hear about the tool library and the tool shed mentioned by Claire Baker and by Alexander Stewart, and in the fact that that is based on the men's shed model, that the tools can be hired by members of the local community and that there is also a dementia-friendly element to that initiative. Other projects include the music shed, a pond for the children to do pond dipping, a meeting space and activities for those dealing with mental health issues, nature therapy and classes in a whole range of skills, including aromatherapy, flower arranging and outdoor learning, on which the Ecology Centre works with around 30 schools across Fife.

Another project that I was interested in hearing about tonight is one that was mentioned by Alex Rowley and Claire Baker. The follow in our footsteps campaign is part of the climate change element of the centre's work, looking at what we can do as individuals and at our own impact on the environment. That is something that I feel strongly about, because it is for Government to take a lead and ensure that we put the correct legislation in place, but we do not have to sit back and wait for that to happen. There are things that the community can do and that we can all do as individuals to help with that process, so it is important to highlight that.

Education is a strong element of the work. Environmental education has always been at the heart of the Ecology Centre. As we heard from Alexander Stewart, demand for educational visits has continued to grow, and the centre now works with hundreds of schoolchildren each year, helping them to understand the importance of—and how to care for—our environment.

The Ecology Centre was one of 16 projects that were approved recently for the outdoor learning in nature fund. Earlier this summer, I launched that fund, alongside Scottish Natural Heritage, at Jupiter Artland in Edinburgh. The outdoor learning in nature fund is a vital project, because it aims to connect our young people, of nursery age and of school age, with the environment, which is something that all children should be able to enjoy, regardless of their socioeconomic background. The Ecology Centre was awarded £27,809 for the muddy books project, which will see the centre work with three schools in Fife to embed a sustainable model of progressive outdoor learning. I hope to hear about that again when I am able to visit.

The Ecology Centre is one of the key organisations in Fife when it comes to connecting people and nature. It puts a strong emphasis on creating and encouraging access to the outdoors and on providing volunteering opportunities, particularly for our young people. The Ecology Centre employs 11 members of staff, providing employment training opportunities through project Scotland and community jobs Scotland, as well as accommodating school and college placements. As we have heard tonight, there is an army of volunteers who regularly attend the centre to help with the many and varied tasks around the site.

The Scottish Government supports both the environmental education work and biodiversity conservation work of the Ecology Centre at Kinghorn, because it inspires

"positive change through directly connecting people and the natural environment for the benefit of both."

I thank those who have contributed to the debate tonight to celebrate 20 years of the centre, recognise its important work and wish it every success. I believe that people from the Ecology Centre are here in the gallery, and to them I say, "Thank you so much for all the work that you do. Congratulations on your 20 years of work and, please, keep up the good work. I look forward to meeting you soon."

The Deputy Presiding Officer: It sounds like quite a place. That concludes the debate.

Meeting closed at 17:34.

	This is the final edition of the <i>Official Report</i> for this meeting. It is part of the and has been sent for legal dep	ne Scottish Parliament <i>Official Report</i> archive posit.
F	Published in Edinburgh by the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body, the Scottish Parliament, Edinburgh, EH99 1SP	
A	All documents are available on he Scottish Parliament website at:	For information on the Scottish Parliament contact Public Information on:
<u>v</u> Ii	www.parliament.scot nformation on non-endorsed print suppliers	Telephone: 0131 348 5000 Textphone: 0800 092 7100 Email: sp.info@parliament.scot
	s available here: www.parliament.scot/documents	



